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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT
January 7, Z025

Honorable Mayor and Members
OF City Council

City of Biloxi

Biloxi, Mississippi

KEeport on the Awdit of the Financial Statements

LT

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each
major fund of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi (City), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as
listed in the table of contents,

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each major fund and the
aggregate remaining fund information of City of Biloxi, Mississippi, as of September 30, 2023, and the
respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

Basix for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
(GAS), issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. 'We are required to be independent of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. 'We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As described in Note 17 to the basic financial statements, the City adopted new accounting guidance,
Governmental Aceounting Standards Board {GASB) No. 96, Subscription-Based Technology Agreements. Our
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

9490 Three Rivers Road | Gulport, M5 30503 | (228) 863-p411 | Fax (228) #63-1165 | E-Hall: infofavicpa.com | wenw.avicpa.com
304 N, Vardaman Street | B0, Box 749 | ‘Wiggins, M5 39577 | (601) 928-4416 | Fax (601) 928-4417 | E-Madl: Info@avicpa.com | www.avicpa.com
3940 Hwry. 90 | Bary St Louis, M5 39520 | {228) 467-1402 | Fax (238) 467-2594 | E-Mall: infodbavicpa.com | weww,avicpa,com

Members: American Institute of OPA's, Mississppd Sockety of CPA's.



Hoenorable Mayor and Members
OF City Council

City of Biloxi

Biloxi, Mississippi

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Biloxi, Mississippi’s
ahility to continue as a going concern for twelve months bevond the fnancial statement date, including any
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shorily thereafier.

Auwditor's Responsibilities for the Andlt of the Financtal Staterents

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance aboul whether the financial stalements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinions, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is
not a guarantee that an awdit conducted in sccordance with GAAS and GAS will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable vser based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and GAS, we:

*  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

o [dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due o
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amownts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of City of Biloxi, Mississippi’s internal contral, Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

s  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial siatements.

*  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the City of Biloxi, Mississippi’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a rensonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters

that we identified during the andit.
Requived Supplemieniary Fnjformation

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and net pension liability and contributions on
pages 5-16, 63-64 and 65-T2, respectively, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic Anancial statements,
is required by the Govermmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential pant of
linancial reporling for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context.



Honorable Mayor and Members
Of City Council

City of Riloxi

Biloxi, Mississippi

We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards gencrally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inguiries of
management aboul the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management’s responses 1o our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
EX[ESS @n opanich or provide any assurance,

Supplementary Information

Owr audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise City of Biloxi, Mississippi's basic linancial statements. The combining nonmajor fumd financial
statements on pages 73-76, and schedule of expenditures of federal awards on page 83 as required by Firfe
2 US. Code of Federal Regwlations, Part 200, Uniform Adwinistrafive Regisirensents, and schedule of
surety bonds for city officials on page 80, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining nonmajor fund financial statements, schedule of expenditures of federal awards, and
schedule of surety bonds for city officials are the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic Anancial statements.
The information has been subjected to the aunditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, incleding comparing and reconciling such information
directly 1o the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to
the basic financial statements themselves, and oiher additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, this information is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Requived by Goversent Awditing Standards

In accordance with Govermmeeni Awditing Stamdards, we have also issuved our repont dated January 7, 2025,
on our consideration of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi's internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and
other matters, The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of intermal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Anditing Sterrelares in considering City off Biloxi,
Mississippi's intemal control over financial reporting and compliance,

%W¢ Van Lion, Sloen, iﬂm&_f'&ﬂr_ Puc

ALEXANDER, VAN LOON, SLOAN, LEVENS & FAVRE, PLLC
Certified Public Accouninnis
Gulfport, Mississippi
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2023

Management's Discussion and Analysis (MDEA) provides the readers of the City of Biloxi's financial
statements a narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities for the City of Biloxi for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2023. The information contained in this MD&A has been prepared by
management and should be considered in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes
thereto.

Financial Highlights

Key financial highlights for the 2023 fiscal vear include the following:

Thie assets and deferred outflows of the City of Biloxi exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows
at September 30, 2023 by 5582, 885,166 (net position). By far the largest portion of the City's
net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery and
equipment), less any related outstanding debt used to acquire or construct those assets. The
City of Biloxi uses these tangible capital assets to provide services to citizens and business;
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City of Bilowxd"s
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the
resources used to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets
themselves are not expected to be used to liquidate these liabilities.

The total net pasition of the City of Biloxi decreased by 51,186,355, The decrease is comprised
of current year net position decrease of 544,051,879 and prior period adjustments decrease of
51,097,342 for governmental activities and current year net position increase of $49,746,924
and prior period of adjustments decrease of $5,784,058 for business-lype activities.

As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Blloxi's governmental funds reported
combined ending fund balance of 533,866,973, a decrease of 523,740,756 in comparison with
the prior year. Of this amount, 517,579,150 was restricted for capital improvements,
57,587,200 was committed for debt service and other, 54,917,815 was unassigned and
53,782,808 was nonspendable in the form of prepaid assets and lease receivables, net of related
deferred inflows of resources.

Al the end of the current fiscal year, the General Fund had an unassigned balance of
519,286,487, or 26.0% of the total General Fund expenditures,

The City of Biloxi's total outstanding long-term debt decreased by 521,510,816, or 19.0%, during
the current fiscal year. The City of Biloxi retired 514,075,000 in general obligation bonds on
March 1, 2023, and entered into an equipment installment loan for 51,725,000 on March 29,
2023, for the purchase of three new fire trucks.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This MDEA is Intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Biloxi's basic financial statements, The
City of Biloxi's basic financial staterments comprise three components: (1) government-wide financial
statements, (2) fund financial statements and {3) notes to the financial statements. This report also
contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
Management's Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2023

Government-Wide Financial Statement: The government-wide financial statements are designed to
provide readers with a broad overview of the City of Biloxi's finances, in @ manner similar to a private
sector business.,

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City of Biloxi's assets and liabilities, with
the difference between the two reported as net position. Ower time, increases or decreases in net
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City of Bilox is
improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the City of Biloxi's net position changed
during the most recent fiscal year, All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues
and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future
fiscal period (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

The statement of net position and the statement of activities distinguish between functions of the City
of Biloxi that are principally supported by taxes, intergovernmental revenues and charges for services
(governmental activities) and other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of
their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The City of Biloxi's governmental
activities include general government, public safety, public works, cultural and recreation, planning and
roning, community development, capital projects and Biloxi Municipal Court, The business-type
activities of the City of Bilox! include water/sewage and port.

Fund Financlal Statements: A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control
over resaurces that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Biloxi, like
other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City of Biloxi can be divided into three
categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.

Govermmental funds—Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
povernment-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on the near-term
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources at the end
of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the City of Biloxi's near-term financial
regquirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statemenits, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the City of Biloxi's near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance provide a reconciliation to facilitate this
comparizon between governmental funds and governmental activities,



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPP

Management's Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2023

The City of Biloxi maintains fourteen (14) individual governmental funds. Information is presented
separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance for the General Fund, General Capital Projects Fund
and Debit Service Fund, all of which are considered to be major funds. Data for the other 11
governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each
of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in
this report.

The City of Biloxi adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund and certain special revenue
funds. Budgetary comparison schedules have been provided to demonstrate compliance with these

budgets.

Proprietary funds—The City of Biloxi maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise
funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-
wide financial statements, only in more detail. The City of Biloxi uses enterprise funds to account for its
water/sewage and port funds. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to aceumulate and
allocate costs internally among the City of Biloxi's various functions, The City of Biloxi uses internal
service funds to account for its self-insurance (liability/workers’ compensation and healthcare benefits)
and gaming interruption. Because these services predominately benefit governmental rather than
business-type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the government-
wide financial statements.

Fiduciary funds—Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the City of Biloxi. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements
because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City of Biloxi’s own programs. The
accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

Notes to the basic financlal statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential to a
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Cther information—In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report
also presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City of Biloxi's progress in
funding its obligations to provide pension benefits to its employees and compliance with budget for its
general fund.

The combining statements referred to earier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds and
internal service funds are presented immediately following the required supplementary information on
pensions and budgetary comparisons.



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI

Management's Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2023

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

City of Bilox's Net Position

Lpplomber 30, J023 and 2E2
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activitios Takal
pkE] Pl Fr P 108 20F8 i

Cinite il and others assets 111,008 857 186 774 339 25,992 5T Fi 235 463 137,501, 438 158 554, 796
-I:ipull.'lul':t: 337,601,052 372,558 533 JEE 247300 240, 508, 349 733,843 207 719467, 1R2

Terlal Essels A48, 505, 510 S0, A N7 412 234 B T RN BG1 744 B0 BB 465078
Defered outiiows of resourcespenséon 0,115,637 10, 278,250 1365 863 603,198 11481 450 10921417
Current and other labilites 5,019,233 50,557,158 4734, 761 3.832,171 39,753,994 54,399 379
Long-term biabilities 190,036,914 178230923 19,493, 506 LRH50. 247 NSIOAN 157, 1810

Tokal Rabilities 2%, 066, 147 228, 738 581 23 T8 367 22 TE1 338 248,784,414 151580915
Cederred indlows of resources-pension 2,385,531 1092 323 64,201 135,726 3T TAk FR AL

Deferred infloes of resources-leases 47,831 S65 4505, 128 1,195 447 1538 B7E &5, 007, 00T 51,607,006
Tatal deferead knfiows of resourc S0, 217, 065 51,660,351 1330641 3078604 51,556,759 53,734,965

Met padition:
Nt invesimsent bn caplial asoels 152,371,385 DEE, 145 500 33,024 404 332,681 434 625,295, T8 G, 437, 345
Restriched 1, 2010, 503 17,226,431 104, B52 181, 453 10,306, 355 17 4007 Bo4
Unrestricted (68,120,555 _ (46,470786) _ 15403577 _ MLAOTOM  _(SA7I697E) _ [34763.716)
Tot il position 104, 752,333 235,501,554 JA8 533 813 M 505,567 SH2 RS 166 584,071,521

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial
position. In the case of the City of Bilox, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities

and deferred inflows of resources by $582,885,166.

The City of Biloxi’s net position decreased by $1,186,355 in fiscal year 2023. The decrease is comprised
of current vear net position increase of 55.7 million and prior period adjustments decrease of 56.9
milliom.

The largest portion of the City of Biloxi's net position, totaling approximately $625.3 million, or 107.3%,
Is its investment in capltal assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery and equipment) less any related
outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City of Biloxi uses these tangible capital assets to
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although
the City of Biloxi's investment in its capital assets is reported niet of related debt, it should be noted that
the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI

Management's Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2023

City of Biloxd's Changes In Net Position

Sepsember 30, 2023 and 2027
Gonernmanial Activities Busibnegs-Type Activities Tatal
hala 20E2 2023 03z 2023 2022
0,452,783 0%, 18,5310, 649 14,991,040 28,484 432 T076.919
B33,556 50,275 - - B33 556 A5O35S
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Y572 410 9,275,338 - 12572 810 5,275 1A
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194,352,391 23500554 REE 5321 344, 508,067

SHE BAS 150 584,001,521

The ending net position for the prior fiscal year was reduced by 51,097,342 and net position for the
current year for governmental activities decreased by 544,051,879 for an ending balance of
$194,352,333. Some key highlights from the statement of activitles during 2023 include the following

items;

* Property, gaming and sales taxes increased by $462,200, 5439,662 and $190,796, respectively
* Capital grants and contributions revenues increased by 59,842,394
» Construction in progress expensed in fiscal year 2023, 513,297,994 {included in public works

BRPENSes)

*  Employee retirement contribution adjustment, net expense, 57,012,242



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
Management's Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2023

sworn officer pay increase, effective October 1, 2022, 53,423,849

Increase in property and general liability insurances, 836,036

Prigr period adjustments were made in order to restate the ending net position for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2022, The restatement resulted in a 51,097,342 decrease in net
pasition related to the implementation of GASE 96 = Subscription-based Information
Technology Arrangements and the correction of prior period balances for depreciation,
Additional information on the prior peried adjustments can be found in Motes 17 and 18 on
pages 61-62 of this report.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MIS5ISSIPPI
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PROGRAM EXPENSES AND REVENUES - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

B0, NN, R
50,000,000 48,570,995
40,000,000
32,714,465
30,000,000 IHTAES
200 D0k DO
123,572,410
10,000,000 B04,517 5,50],,515
'5“’4“3 1,212,039 z,am,au
pe=g) 5“ g ==
General Cultwre & Public Safety  Public Warks Community Interest-long
Gavernament Recreation Drvelopment Term Dekbit
® Program Expenses = Progeaem Revemes
Business-type Activities

The ending net position for business-type activities for the prior fiscal year was reduced by 55,784,058
and net position for the current fiscal year increased by 549,746,924 for an ending balance of
5388,532,833. Some key highlights from the statement of activities during 2023 include the following
items:

One percent Harrison County Ad Valorem tax increased by 5294,035

Capital grants and contributions revenues increased by 318,895

Depreciation expense increased by 52 405,746

Repairs and maintenance increased by 5686,173; sewerage increased by $299,244; other
contractual services for outsourced jobs/labor increased by 5329,463; chemicals increased by
5157,666; and insurance/admin fees increased by 455,439

* Prior period adjustments were made in arder to restate the ending net position for the fiscal
vear ended September 30, 2022, The restatement resulted in a 55.8 million decrease in net
position related to the implementation of GASB 96 = Subscription-based Information
Technology Arrangements and the correction of prior period balances for depreciation.
Additional information on the prior pericd adjustments can be found in Motes 17 and 18 on
pages 61-62 of this report,
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REVENUE BY SOURCE - BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
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Fimancial Analysis of the City of Biloxi's Funds
Governmental Funds

The focus of the City of Bilowi's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City of Biloxi's
financing requirements. In particular, assigned and unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful
measure of a city’s net resources available at the end of the fiscal year.

s Asof the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Biloxi's governmental funds reported a
combined ending fund balance of $33.9 million, a decrease of $23.7 million in comparison with
the priar fiscal year. Of the $33.9 million ending fund balance, 54,917,815, or 14.5% was
unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the government’s discretion. The
remainder of the fund balance is not available for new spending and has been classified into the

following categories:
Monspendable 5 3,782,808
Restricted 17,579,150
Committed 7,587,200

#  The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Biloxi, At the end of the current fiscal
year, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $19.3 million. The total unassigned is
available for spending at the City Council’s discretion. The fund has a balance of 524,418,832 at
the end of the current fiscal year, up 51,796,340 to the prior fiscal year.

*  The General Capital Projects Fund has a total fund balance of [514.4) million. This fund balance
is committed by the City Council to be used for capital projects. The negative fund balance was
caused by the difference in timing between expenses related to project engineering and the
budgeted revenue related to this project.

¢ The Debt Service Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for and the payment of long-
term debt principal, interest and related costs for various bonds. The fund has a balance of 55.4
million.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The budget policy of the City of Biloxi complies with state law, as amended, and as set forth in
Mississippd Code Title 21, Chapter 35, Municipal Budget (§521-35-1 = 21-35-33).

The original budget for the General Fund of the City of Biloxi was adopted on September 13, 2022, For
the year ended September 30, 2023, material amendments made to increase the General Fund
budgeted revenues and expenditures are as follows:

* Revenues were amended upward by 5686,123 for new grants.
o Salaries/Wages were amended upward by 51,101,111 for across the board pay
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increases, effective January 1, 2023,

Other Services and Charges were amended upward by 51,246,000 primarily due to
increase in insurance premiums, $750,000; timing of audit fees payment, $50,000;
BNews, 546,000; Save Qur Sound Coalition, 5250,000; and W. Biloxi Library repairs,
5150,000,

Contractual Services were amended upward by 550,000 due to HowHop District Project,
$50,000.

Capital outlay line items were amended upward by $384,126 mainly due to grant
expenditures, 575,579; vehicles, 5245,461; and fencing, 563,086.

Selected significant differences between the final budget and actual results of the General Fund are:

Salaries/\Wages expenditures were lower than budget by 52,109,379, mainly due to
vacant positions in public safety and public warks.

Capital expenditures were lower than budget by $2,982,115 due to supply Issues,
delayed receipt of merchandise and lead time of made to order equipment.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Capital Assets: The City of Biloxi's investment in capital assets as of September 30, 2023, amounts to
4723.8 million (et of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land,
buildings and improvements, streats, drainage, furniture and equipment and construction in progress,
The table below shows the value at the end of the fiscal year.

Cliy of Blloxl's Capital Assets
iMet of depreciation)

Gowammantal Activities Business-Type Activities Todal
2003 2022 2023 2022 023 022
Lansd 46, 533,125 i, 343,652 iR 161 13161 47,351,286 7,056,853
Buildings 59,155,619 103 556,320 s - SEL1S5.61% 102,556,320
Improvements other than bulldings 21,305,845 20,452, 385 - . 31,355 845 J0.a57 386
kdachinery and equipment 13,068, 905 11,821,979 1571 455 1,661 083 1a 640, 3593 13, 483 062
Infrastructure - streets and dralnage 116,624,350 116,462,105 - - 116,624,300 116,462,105
Hight of use asseis-leases 545,339 505,357 51627 118,026 506, 966 623, TR
Right of use asseti-subscriptions 2,385,550 2,703,263 305,884 356,956 2691 434 3,070,219
Wter and sewer system . . 304, 780838 92,701,349 308,781,833 42,701,349

Pt bullding and improvements

210305 25,950,117 24,113,069 25,5950, 717

Construction in progress 37,792 318 73,581, 248 5070025 219,536,503 849250 293178151
Total capltal assets 337,600,092 IMA26350  3B6,242,310 341106205  7II843400 715534555
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Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year include the following:

Katrina Infrastructure Project

Popps Ferry Extension

Keesler AFB Gate [Dutside)

Paint Cadet Marina Improvements

Main Street Crossing Upgrade

Larraine Road Waterline

Sand Beach Renourishment

Shriners Boulevard Water Sewer Extension

+  Popps Ferry Recreational Complex Restrooms
= Sports Complex Field Improvement

& 8 & @& & ® »

Additiconal information on the City of Biloxi's capital assets can be found in Note 5 on pages 40-41 of this
report.

Long-term Debt: At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Biloxi had total debt outstanding of
591.9 million, Of this amount, $67.9 million comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the City
of Biloxi. The following table summarizes debt outstanding at September 30, 2023 and 2022,

City of Biloxi's Qutstanding Debt

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Tokal
2023 22 2023 2032 2023 2022
General obfigation bonds 53,592,000 72,608,000 - - 53,992,000 F2, 608, 000
Tan incrament bonds 13,940, 654 16,105, 730 - - 13,940,694 16,105, 730
Capltal lease payable 7806, 148 7.381, 270 - 43,218 7.B0G, 148 T.424, 438
Lease payable 655,068 S04, 195 51,754 118,163 06, B2 627,358
Subscription payable 2,260,106 4,564,754 342009 324,014 2,602,115 2,948,773
Water/sewer notes payable . < 6,434,035 6,911,121 B,434,026 6,911,121
Lmited tax port bonds - - =, 700, (00 &, 1005000 S o0, DO &, 100000
Drinking water loan 597,102 654,313 597,102 654,313

T8,654016  99,168504 13214901 _ 14200829 _ 91,868,917 113,379,733

The City of Biloxi's total debt decreased by 521.5 million during the current fiscal year mainly die to the
retirement of 514,075,000 in general obligation bonds.

On January 9, 2019, Standard and Poor's Global Ratings assigned its A&- long term rating to City of Biloxi.
The rating remains unchanged for the City's bonds,

State statutes limit the amount of debt that can be incurred by the City, Total outstanding debt during a
year can be no greater than 20% of assessed value of the taxable property within the City. The legal
debt margin for the City of Biloxi for the current fiscal year is $83.8 million.

Additional information on the City of Biloxi's long-term debt can be found in Mote 9 on pages 44-47 of
this report.
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Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates

The following economic factors were considered when the budget for fiscal year 2024 was presented to
the City Council:

The plan is designed to continue supporting the following broadly stated objectives:

Improve current level of services to our citizens

Continue improving City facilities and infrastructure

Provide continuous support of residential expansion and economic development
Maintain and improve the quality of life for our citizens

Attract and maintain employees

For fiscal year 2024, the City expects ad valorem tax dollars to increase 1.7% due to development and
improvements. Sales tax dollars and gaming tax dollars are expected to remain consistent with prior

Vear.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Biloxi's finances for all those
with an interest in the municipality's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in
this report, or requests for additional financial information, should be addressed to the Departrment of
Accounting, Office of the Controller/Accounting Manager, P.O. Box 429, Biloxi, Mississippi 39533-0429,
or by emailing accounting @biloxi.ms.us,
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Cash pzd ganh cquivalonia & 17,225,846 i 10M226T i 3o 544,113
Heceivallen, re rATRRNL 1L E21 470 4,371 388
L recwivables, o TAS) 60 31151 304 42
ue Tren oiber govessmental ageacees 3,714,800 7434953 0,148,555
T from other fumdy 4TI ' 1A
Prepaid expenies 347351 30,00 3T A5
Hestricted mmacis:

Cash and cash equivalenn IT.TR0E5E L1443 19550
Lease recenables, noncureend A& 113412 SE0 10T TRl
Capital assets

Mosdeprociahle asuch LA TR L] 1 A18407 133,743 B0

Highl ol e asseis, pet ol anemiralios 3000880 151501 BIAREADD

Dieprociable asseiy, nol of deprociation 230 244,760 354 b, 1B 34,710,142
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Total ancts S 00 0405 4133 B Bl AL BN
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ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Resirigled Assots:
Cash anil cash equivalents
Hegeivables, net
Taoes
Lense
Accrued imeiest - loases
Custonser accounds, net
Oher
Cnie Fromi other govemments
e from otiher City funds
Peepaid expenses

Totad nsscts

LIABILITIES AXND FUND BALANCE
Linbalities:
Aecounts payable and accrued [Ebilices
[hat to olher funds
Uneamed revenue

Total liabdliives

DEFERRED INFLINWS OF RESCURCES

Dieferred nflows an lemse receivalides

Fand balances;
Momspendable
Prepadids

Lemse reccivables, et of relmed delerred

inflows of resources
Restiged

Capital lnsprovemits
Cinmimstied

Dbl service

Oither
Unassigned

Tosal Fund bakances

Total liabdlies, deferred indlows of meaounces
ind Fond balanges

CITY FF BILOXE MISSISSIFRL
BALAMOCE SHEET
GUVERMNMENTAL FLNDS
SEFTEMBER 30, 2023

Exhilst 2

Oilver Maon-

rencral Major Tatal
Capital Debi Service Caovermneent Geovernnmieatal

Gemeral Fund _ Projecls Fund Fund Funals Funds
3 B11vH0e 5 42125 0§ 437032 5 48919 § 142MATs
I, 163,372 38,131 - 17,579,150 37,780,651
TIEE 111 - 42,542 £33 74390038
i JEE 69T - - 2,088 315 45 56T 022
143,812 s . 6,047 149,850
138903 2 . . 158,903
Tio0us - . 20457 T50,3%2
MR 4,598,737 LOTG08S = 6,193,700
E 546,205 = - - B 546,205
1047151 - - 3,047,351
SRIEEITH 5§ 507EMM B SdROA4T 5 mi-mlm £ 106,912,597
5 4907213 0§ 64408 § 43418 % 2031 5 I1SERARG
4427 #.540,205 . . 0,040,632
B0, 297,305 4 RT3 = - 14,584 T
15,698,945 13447 658 A3 418 24,081 55,214,059
A5, 764,697 - = 2,046, B8 47,831, 565
3047351 - - 3,047,351
04,000 - = 31,457 735,457
= - " 17,579,150 17,579,150
- - A6 025 - L4406 439
1,380,904 . - TI8.777 L1407
19,286 487 i1 _B68,672) - 4917815
M‘IE&!E Hﬁﬂlﬁﬂ! SAd6 A28 18,370,384 11,866,578
SESERIATE 5 SOVES93 5 SAEGE4T 5 0461283 5 116,912,557

The nccompanying noles ane an dnbegeal part of these fimancial sinlements,
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Exhibit C-1

CITY OF BILOXIE MISSISSIFPI
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
T THE STATEMENT OF NET POSETIONMN
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Total fund balance, governmental funds £ 33,866,973

Amounds reported for governmental activities in the Siatement of Mel Position are different because:

Capital assels used in governmental activities are not currend financial resources and, therefore, are
ot reporied in the funds. 337,564,032

Certain other long-lerm assels are nol available to pay current period expenditures and, therefore,
are nid reported in the funds, 306,783

listernal fervice funds are vsed by management to aocount for the costs of the City™s nisk
management, incleding insurance. The assets and liabilitics of the internal service funds are
included in governmental activities in the slatement of net position, 22,635

Long-term liabilitics are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in
thee: funds.

Compensated absences (7,231,027}
Motes, bonds, and installment loans (75,718,842)
Lease linbilities (656,235)
Subscription liabilities (2,283,546}
Ulsavailable revenues that provide current linancial resources for governmenial activities. 4,347 308

Met pension liability is not due and payable in the cument period; deferred outflows related 1o
pensions are nol current assets or financial resources; and deferred inflows related to pensions are
nol dhoe and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds, {95,845,748)

Met Position of Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position (Exhibit A) £ 194,352 333

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these finoncial sttemens,

20



REVEXILES

Ad valogem laxcs
Fropeity baxes
Franchisg 1axcs
Liccases and pemiis
Fees aml fines
Entengeverminental
Charges Bor services
Lease neveniics
imierest Income - leases
[ervestment eamings
Mizcellaneos - other

Total revenses

EXPENINTIURES
Curnend:
Gienonal gevernment
TPubsdic salety
Public warks
Parka and recrecalian
Commanily developmsnt
Engincering
iHem-depanimental
Uther cxpendhiiueg
Capital outlsy

Pubic weaks
Dbl wervice:

Principal retircmem

Inlenest and agent fees

Total expenditiines

Excess of revemues aver expondilures

CTHER FINANCING S0URCES (USES)

Froceeds [rom capstal loascs
Feoceeds ltons sale ol assces
Capital contisbulben - propeicdieny funds

Transders in
Transiirs ou

Taial oiher financing sowrces (uses)
Mel change n Fund balances

Frund balances - begmming
Fand halances - ending

CUTY OF BILOXL, MISSISSIME
STATERMENT OF REVENUES, EXPFENDITURES, AND CHANGES 1IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE VEAR ENDED SEFTEMBER 30, 2003

Exhils [

Hlser Mom-

Giemernl Major Tatal
General Capiral Deht Service Giovernmenial Governmental

Fund Prajects Fund Fund Fuiids Fumds
5 BUIRGSE 0§ 8 733z 0§ ITEA0T 8 17037007
4 50 A66 - 224 4, 712691
3299737 - . 5,204 757
1, 326251 - 1,326,251
352 598 - - - 352 4608
45 460 146 A RID 1. 558030 A1 A0 15, ME 0d6
3,175,743 - - 25,000 3,200,743
2672432 10, 745 2182177
B2, H{H - - 302 B3 E1
FI5E1D 2537 15 0653 EARES 1,505 000
JM 27Xk s 127,095 4 432 S48
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- 1006 256 - e LG, 256
84, 19D 2L TR 036 21,165,226
20007 258,237 2,661,304
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1,370,080 15,549 X80 {14,233, 727} i L] 3435603
1,725 ) 1,725,000
522973 - 22073
{42,517) - - . (42.51T)
418,285 2007 808 143 50,000 RS 26
(,197481) _ (28.562.919) . {1,306, T4 (32,067, 140)
kg, 260 (2445, 110} 0143 i 1,356, 40y (27,170 445}
1,786,340 (10,495,725 {14,134, 384) (506, 790 (23,740,756}
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¥

The sseompainying noles are an Etegial pan of these Anancisl sinlements.



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI

Exhibit -1

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TOTHE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Mot change in Rk balances - wtal govemmental famnds:

Amounts repoeried for Governmental Activities i the Statement of Activitics are differem
becanse:

Governmental funds report outlays for capital assets as expendifures; however, i the
Staterment of Activities the cost of theae assets is allocated over the estimated useful lives
and reporied as depreciafion expense. This is the amount of capital outlay ($5364,245) and
depreciation and amorization ($11,730,793) in the current period.

Governmental funds do not report capital asseis on the balance sheet, therefore when a
capital osset is transferred to or from an enterprise fund it @5 reflected as revenue or
expense,

Crovernmental funds report the entire net sales price (proceeds) from sale of an asset as
revemie because it provides current financial resources, In contrast, the Statement of
Activitics reports only the gain on the sabe of the assets. Thus, the change in net assels
differs from the change in fund balance by the cost of the asset sold.

Internal service funds are used by management to allocate the cost of self insuring fo
individual funds. The net revenue (expense) of the interal service funds is reported with
govermnental sctivities,

CGiovernmental funds do not present revenues that are not available fo pay cument
obligations. In contrast, such revenues are reported in the Statement of Activities when
earmed.

Repayments of long-term debt principal are expenditures in the governmental funds, but
the repayiment reduces the liabilities in the Statement of Met Position. Proceeds from long-
term debt are reported as currend financial respurces in governmental funds, bui are
treated as a lisbility v the Statement of Activities. This is the amount by which
repaynients (522,725,267 exceed proceeds ($1,725,000).

Pension expense recorded in the Statement of Activities does nol require the use of
current Timancial resources.

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current
financinl respurces and these are not reported as expenditures in governmendal funds,

(23,740,756)

{12,295,034)

(23,520,214)

{1,098,143)

(45.297)

4,555,074

21,000,267

(7,012,242)

[0, A

Change in net position of governmemal activities (Exhibit B)

{44,051,879)

The accompanying nodes are an indegral pan of these financial statements.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

I. Imteodiction

The City of Biloxi, Mississippi, (the “City™) was incorporated on February 8, 1838, under the laws of the
State of Mississippi. The City operates under a Mayor-Council form of government and provides the
following services: public safety (police, fire, and civil defense), public works (highways, streets, and
sanitation), health and social services, culiure-recreation, community development, planning and zoning, and
general administrative services.

The City"s reporting entity applies all applicable Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASH)
pronouncements. The accounting framework and the more significant accounting principles and practices arc
discussed in subsequent sections of this note. The remainder of the notes are organized to provide
explanations, including required disclosures, of the City's financial activities for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2023,

I1. Financial Reporting Entity

The City's basic financial statements include the accounts of all City operations. The criteria for including
organizations as component units of the City consist of oversight responsibility, special financing
relationships and scope of public services. Owversight responsibility is determined by the extent of financial
interdependency, control over the selection of the goveming authority and management, ability 1o
significantly influence operations, and accountability for fiscal matiers. Based on these criteria, the City had
no component units during the vear ended Seplember 30, 2023. However, see Note 16 for information
describing a joint venture of the City and another governmental entity and a jointly governed organization,

1. Related Organizations

The Biloxi Public School Distriet has been excluded from the reporling entity, because it is an “other stand-
alone government™, The school district is a related organization of, bit not a component unit of the City of
Biloxi. The goveming authorities of the City do select the members of the school district’s board, but do not
have ongoing Mnancial responsibility for the school district.

IV. Joint Ventures and Jointly Governed Organizations

Additionally, during its evaluation of potential component units, management identified one joint venture
(Harrison County Utility Authority), and two jointly governed organizations (the Harrison County Library
System and the Gulfport-Biloxi International Airport).

A joint venture is a legal entity or other organization that results from a contractual arrangement and that is
owned, operated, or governed by two or more participants as a separate and specific activity subject to joint
controd, in which the participants retain (a) an ongoing financial interest or (b) an ongoing Nnancial
responsibility.

Generally, the purpose of a joint venture is to pool resources and share the costs, risks, and rewards of
providing goods or services to the venture participants directly, or for the benefit of the general public or
specific service recipients.

A jointly governed organization is similar in nature 1o a joint venture in that they provide goods and services
to the citizenry of two or more governments. However, they do not meet the definition of a joint venture
because there is no ongoing significant financial interest or responsibility by the participating governments.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPFTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE I: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

V. Basis of Accounting, Measurement Focus, and Presentadion

The City's basic financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. GASB is the acknowledged standard setting body for establishing
accounting and financial reporting standards followed by governmental entities,

GASE standards require that the accounts of the City be organized on the basis of funds, each of which is
considered a separate accounting entity. Fund accounting seprepates funds according to their intended
purpese and 15 used o aid mansgement in demonsieating compliance with fnance-related legal and
contractual provisions, The operations of each fund are accounted for in & separate set of self-balancing
accounts that comprise its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources,
fund equity, revenues, and expendilures or expenses, as appropriate. Cily resources are allocated to and
accounted for in individual funds based upon the purpose for which they are to be spent and the means by
which spending activities are controlled.

Financial reporting standards established by GASB require that the linancial statements described below be
presented,

Crovertmment-wide Financical Sialements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activilies)
repart information on all of the nonfideciary activities of the City, Governmemtal aerivivies, which normally
are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities,
which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for services. The government-wide financial statements
are presented on an economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the
proprictary funds, Accordingly, all of the City's current and long-term assets and liabilities, including capital
assels, infrastructure asscts, and long-term liabilitics, are included in the accompanying statement of net
posilion as of September 30, The statement of aclivities presents chanzes in nel position since Oclober 1, the

beginning of the fiscal year.

Under the sccrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when
the liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows, Shared revenuwes are recognized
when the provider recognizes the liability to the City. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year
for which they are levied. Granis and similar ilems are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposzed by the provider have been met,

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific
function or segment. Program revenues include: (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or
dircctly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment; (2) operating
grants and contributions which finance annual operating activities including restricted investment income; and
(3) capital grants and contributions which fund the acquisition, constrection, or rehabilitation of capital assets
and include fees to developers, Taxes and items not properly included as program revenues are reported

instead as penecal revenues,
Crovernmierbal Frnd Financial Stolewenis

Governmental fund financial statements include a balance sheet and a statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes i fund balances for all major governmental funds and nonmajor funds agerepated. An
accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile and explain the differences in financial position as presented
in these statements to the financial position presented in the government-wide financial statements. The City
has presented all major funds that met the qualifications for major fund reporting.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE I: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuned)
V. Basis of Aceounting, Measurement Focus, and Presentation (Continued)
Cravertmmrental Foand Finorciol Stedenents (Confined)

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund = The City’s primary operating fund, 1t is used to account for all financial resources of
the general government except those required to be accounted for in a separate fund.

General Capital Projects Fund — This fund is used to account for the City’s capital projects. Revenues
are received primarify from the General Fund.

Debt Service Fund — This fund is wsed 1o account for the accumulation of resources for, and the
repayment of, general long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs.

In addition to the major governmental funds listed above, the City also reports two additional fund types that
are considered nonmajor.

The special revenue fimedds account for revenue sources that are legally resiricted or commitied to
expenditure for specific purposes (not incleding permanent funds or major capital projects).

The capifal profects fimds account for the acquisition of capital assets or construction of major capital
projects not financed by other funds,

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus
and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable
and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or
soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to
be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures
generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting,

Property taxes, franchise fees, sales taxes, and licenses, associated with the current fiscal period arc all
considered to be susceptible 1o acerual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.
Only the portion of special assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered 1o be
susceplible to accrual as revenue of the current period. Sales tax collected and held by vendors at year end on
behalf of the City is also recognized as revenue if collecied within 30 days after year end. Expenditure-driven
grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other grant
requiremenis have been met. In general, all ofher revenue items are considered 1o be measurable and available

only when cash is received by the City.

Grant revenues are recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements are met. Under the terms
of grant agreements, the City may fund certain programs with o combination of cost-reimbursement grants
and general revenues, Thus, both restricted and unrestricted net position may be available to finance program
expenses, When both restricted and unresiricled resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use
restricted resources first, as appropriate, then the unrestricted resources as needed.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE I: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, {Continued)
V. Basis of Accounting, Measwrement Focus, and Presentation, (Continued)
Proprietary Fund Finaneiol Statements

Proprietary fund financial statements include a statement of net position; a statement of revenues, expenses,
and changes in fund net position; and a statement of cash flows for each major proprictary fund. These fund
types are used to account for activities that are similar to these found in the private sector. The measurcment
focus is on the determination of net income and capital maintenance. The City reports two major utility funds
where the intent of the governing body is that the costs of providing utility services to the general public on a
continuing hasis be financed or recovered through user charges:

The City reports the following enterprise funds:

Water and Sewer Fund — The water and sewer fund accounts for the activities of the Cily's water,
sewer, and garbage collections,

Biloxi Porl Fund ~ This fund accounts for the activities of the City’s harbors, wharves, piers, and
channels.

Operating revenue reported in proprietary fund financial statements incledes revenues and expenses related to
the primary, continuing operations of the fund. Principal operating revenues for proprictary funds are charges

to customers for sales or services, Principal operating expenses are the costs of providing goods or services
and include personnel costs, contractual services costs, and depreciation of capital assets. Other revenues and

expenses are classified as non-operating in the financial statements,

Internod Service Funds

Like commercial enterprises, a governmental unit may decide to accept certain risk rather than insure against
those risks. As part of the City's self-insurance program, Internal Service Self-Insurance Reserve Funds have
been established to account for the actual cost of claims, reinsurance, and reserves. The City's Internal
Service Funds administer the risk for workman’s compensation, liability, automobile, casualty, and health
insurance. The Intemal Service Funds in turn charge the other City funds for their allocable share of these net
cosls,

VI Use of Extimates

Management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent asscts and liabilitics at the date of the financial stalements, and revenues
and expenses during the period reported. Accordingly, actual resulis could differ from those estimates.

VI Asseis, Liabilities, and Net Position or Fund Balance

Cashoanid Cash Equivalenis

For the purpose of cash flows, the City considers cash on hand, cash with fiscal agents, demand deposit,
certificates of deposit and bank repurchase agreements as cash and cash equivalents. In addition, cach fund's
equity in the City’s pooled cash has been treated as a cash cquivalent since cash may be deposited or
withdrawn from the pool at any time without prior notice or penalty,

Invesitmenis

Siate statutes authorize the Cily to invest in (1) direct obligations of the United States government to the
payment of which the full faith and credit of the United States government is pledged, (2) cerlificates of
deposit when insured or secured by acceptable collateral, and (3) obligations of the State of Mississippi, or any
county, municipality or school district of the State of Mississippi which have been approved by a reputable bond
attorney or have been validated by the decree of the chancery court. Investments are stated at Fair value.

30



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPFTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, (Continued)
VII. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Fund Balance (Continued)
Receivahles

Propery taxes are recognized as a receivable al the time they are levied, and the current faxes receivable represent
fhe 2023 levy and prior levies still uncollected, if any.

Accounts receivable held by the City’s governmental and business-lype activities are stated net of allowances for
estimated uncollectibles as of September 30, 2023, The allowance is based on historicnl collection, experience, and
other relevant circumstances.

During the course of operations, the City has activity between funds for various purposes. Any residunl balances
outstanding at year end are reported as due fromfAo other funds and advances to/from other funds. While these
balances are reported in fund financial statements, cerain eliminations are made in the preparation of the
povernment-wide fingncial stolements, Balances between the funds included in governmental activities are
climinated so that only the nel amount is included as intermal balances in the governmental activities column,
Similarly, balances between the funds included in business-iype activities are eliminated so that only the net
amount is included as internal balances in the business-type activilies column. The City reported $73,471 due from

business-type funds to governmental funds at September 30, 2023,

Further, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. In fund financial
statements these amounts are reported al gross amounts as transfers infout. While reported in fund financial
stalements, cerlnin eliminations are made in the préparation of the governmeni=wide financial statements. Transfers
between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminled so that only the net amoum is included as
transfers in the governmental activitics column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in business-type
aclivities are climinated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the business-lype activities

colimn,
Unbhbilled Serviees Receivahle

Utility revenue is recorded when earned. Customers are billed monthly, The estimated value of services provided,
bt unbilled at year-end, has been included in the accompanying financial stalements.

Prepaid Items

Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond Seplember 30, 2023, are recorded as
prepaid fems In governmental funds, reported prepaid items are equally offset by nenspendable fund balance
amounis, which indicate they do nol constitule “available spendable resources™ even though they are a component
of net current assets. The net change in nonspendable fund balances is nod presented becavse the combined
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances reflects the changes in total fund balances rather
than just the spendable and nonspendable fund balances.

Restrieted Assels

Assets are reporied as restricled when limitations on their use change the nature o normal understanding of the
availability of the asset. Such constraints are extermnally imposed by creditors, coniributors, graniors, or laws,
Restricted assels in governmental activities represent capital asset purchases, reserve for debt service and bond
payment reserves, Restricted assets in business type activities represent utility customer deposits subject 1o refund.
When both restricted and nonrestricted assets are available for use, the policy is to use restricted assets first.

1|



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
VI, Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Fund Balance (Continued)
Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and current infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges,
sidewalks, and similar items), net of depreciation, are reported in the applicable governmental or business-
type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. The City's capitalization levels are as
follows: purchased assets costing more than $1,000 are capitalized; building renovations are capitalized when
their cost exceeds 25% of the building's previously capitalized cost and if the repair extends the building's
estimated useful life; donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items, as well as capital assets
received in a service concession arrangement are reported at acquisition valee, Assets acquired using
installment loan obligations are treated in the same manner as purchased capital assets.

Property, plant, and equipment of the City are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Lives
Buildings 40-50 years
Improvements 40-50 vears
Infrastructure 20-60 years

Machinery and equipment 3-15 years

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of fnancial position will somelimes report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources, This separate financial statement clement, deferred outflows of resources, represents a
consumption of net position that applics to a future period or periods and thus, will not be recognized as an
outflow of resources (expense/fexpenditure) until then. The City has only one item that qualifies for reporting
in this category related to the City's participation in the pension plan, the unamortized changes in investments
actual performance, expectations, projections, and changes in plan assumptions (Sce Note 11).

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will spmetimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources,
represents an acquisition of nel position that applies o a future period or periods and so will not be
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has two types of item that qualifics
for reporting in this category related to the City's participation in the pension plan and the difference between
projected and actual plan investment earnings (See Note 11) and lease receivables (See Note 6).

Pensions

For purposes of mensuring the net pension liability, deferred cutflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Public
Employees' Retirement System (PERS) and additions to/deductions from PERS" fiduciary net position have
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by PERS. For this purpose, the benefit payments
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
benefit terms. Invesiments are reported at fair value.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 3, 2023

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

VII Assets, Liabilities, and Met Position or Fund Balanee (Continued)
Long-term Liahilities

In the government-wide financial statements and proprictary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-
term debt and ather long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities,
business-lype activilies, and propriciary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts
arc deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are
reported net of the applicable bond premivm or discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed when bonds are
issued,

Inn the fund financial statements, governmental fund vpes recognize bond premivms and discounts, as well as
bond issuance costs, during the current period, The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt
issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt
proceeds received, are reported as other financing uses,

Compensated Absences

The City accrues accumulated unpaid vacation and comp time and associnted employee-related costs when
earned (or estimated (o be earmed) by the employvee. Employvees are paid for up to 30 days of unused annual
leave upon retirement or resignation with two weeks” written notice, while excess annual leave and all
accumulated sick leave remaining are counted as creditable service toward retirement.

For proprietary funds and the government-wide statements, the current portion is the amount estimated to be
ised in the following year,

Estimated Insurance Clnims Payable

The City is self insured for general liability, property, automobile, workers' compensation, and employee
health claims. The operating funds are charged premiums by the City's insurance internal service funds. The
accrued liabilities for estimated claims represent an estimate of the eventual loss on claims arising prior to
year-end including claims incurred but not yvet reported.

Unegrned Hevenue

[n the governmental funds, cerfain revenue transactions have been reported as uncamed revenue. Revenue
cannot be recognized until it has been earned and it becomes available 1o linance expenditures of the current
fiscal period.

In proprictary funds (and for governmental activitics in the government-wide statement) uncamed revenue is
reporied as unearmed revenue, regardless of its availability.

Fund Egquity
As of Scptember 30, 2023, fund balances are classified as follows:

Nonspendable — Amounts that cannot be spent either becavse they are in nonspendable form or
because they are legally or contractually required (o be maintained intact.

Resteicied - Amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of constilutional
provisions or cnabling legislation or because of constraints that are externally imposed by
creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws or regulations of other governments.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEFTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Y. Assets, Linbilities, and Net Position or Fumd Balance (Continued)

Fund Equity (Continued)

Committed — Amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal
action of the highest level of decision making authority, the City Council (Council), and does
nol lapse al year end.

Assigned ~Amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classificd as restricted or committed but
that are intended to be used for specific purposes. Under the City’s policy, only the Council or
an official or body to which the Council delegates the awthority may assign amounts for
specific. purposes. Currently, the Council has not delegated the authority to assign fund
balances.

Umassigned — All amounis not included in other spendable classifications, Any residual fund
balance in the General Fund and any deficit fund balance of any other governmental fund is

reported as unassigned.

City Council establishes {and modifies or rescinds) fund balance commitments by passage of an ordinance or
resolution. This is typically done through adoption and amendment of the budget. A fund balance
commitment is further indicated in the budget document as a designation or commitment of the fund (such as
special incentives), Assigned fund balance is established by City Council through adoption or amendment of
the budget as intended for specific purpose (such as the purchase of capital assets, construction, debt service,

or for other purposes).

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is
available, the City considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When an expenditure is incurred for
which commitied, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the City considers amounts fo have
been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless
the Council or an official or body 10 which the Council delegates the authority, as applicable, has provided
otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions.

MNet Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. Net position invested in capital assets,
net of related debt, consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding
payables and balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, constriction, or improvement of those
assets. Mel position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use cither through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation or through external resirictions imposed by creditors,
grantors, laws or regulations of other governments.

VIIL Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability
Budgetary Data

The procedures used by the City in establishing the budget are mandated by Mississippi State Law. A brief
summary of the City's policies for recording budgetary data in the financial statements are as follows:

|. Prior to September 1, the Mayor submits o the City Council a proposed operating budget for the
fiscal year beginning October 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means
of financing them.

Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments,

Mo later than September 15, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a reselution.

it b3
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEFTEMBER 30, 2023

MNOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Continued)
V1L Stewardship, Complinnee, and Accountability (Continued)
Budgetary Data (Continuned)

4. The budgetary comparisons present budget figures at the legal level of control. The City legally
adopts annual budgets for all funds. The City Council formally adopts the annual budget for the
general fund with revenues segregated by source (ad valorem tax, liconses and permits,
intergovernmental, etc.). The general fund expenditure budget is set at the character level (current,
capital outlay, debt service) for each department {Tunction) with current expenditures further detailed
al the object class level {personal services, supplies, other services and charges, and contractual
services).

Budgetary = GAATP Reporting Reconciliations

Budgetary comparison is required to be presented for the general fund and each major special revenue fund, if
any, with a fegally adopted budget. The City adopts annual operating budgets for the general fund and all
special revenue funds. Budgetary comparisons, presented in the required supplementary information section
of this reporl, are on the budgetary basis. Certain adjustments are necessary to compare actual data on a
GAAP versus budget basis. These reconciling adjustments can be found in the Budgetary Comparison
Schedule.

NOTE 2: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The City deposits funds in financial institutions selected by the City's City Council in accordance with
Mississippi statutes. Furthermore, the City invests excess funds in various investment instruments that are
allowed by statutes. Various restrictions on deposits and investments are imposed by statutes.

A summary of cash (including restricted cash) at September 30, 2023 is as follows:

Pooled
Cash on Cish Cash
Hand Deposits Deposits Total
Governmental Activities
Cieneral Fund £ 10,000 £ 10,216,832 % 9,053,749 £ 19280581
General Capital Projecis = 80,256 = 80,256
Dbt Service - 24,294 4, 3446, 524 4,371,222
Diher Monmajor Gov Funds - 17,607,300 720,769 18,328 069
Internal Service Fund - 2867610 78,761 2046371
Total governmental activities 100, M0 0,796,292 Fad 2000, 207 45,006,490
Business-lype Activilics
Water and Sewer GO0 9,279,087 (503,929) B 775,758
Bitoxi Port Fund 550 125,048 0,613,354 6,738,952
Toial business-type activities 1,150 Q04,135 6, 109425 15,514,710
Total cash and cash equivalents § 11,150 5 40,200,427 £ 20,309,632 5 60,521,209
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SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 2: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

The City maintained the following restricted assets as of September 30, 2023:

Governmeninl Activities

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted for capital projects $ 17,617,281
Restricted for other special projects 10,163,372
Total restricted assets - governmental activities 27,780,653

Business-lype Activilies

Cash and cash equivalens
Restricted for wility customer deposits 2055395
Restricted for debi service 117048
Total restricted assets - business-type activitics 2172443
Total restricled assels - governmend-wide ¥ 209530096

Crstodicd Credit Risk - Deposiis

Custodial credit risk is defined as the risk that, in the event of the failure of a financial institution, the City
will not be able to recover deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The
City does not have a formal policy for custodial credit risk. However, the Mississippi State Treasurer
manages that risk on behall of the City. The collateral is held in the name of the State Treasurer under a
program established by the Mississippi State Legislature and is governed by Miss, Code Ann, (1972), §27-
105-5.

Under this program, the City’s funds are protecied through a collateral pool administered by the State
Treasurer, Financial institutions holding deposits of public funds must pledge securities as collateral against
those deposits. In the event of failure of a financial institution, sccuritics pledged by that institution would be
liquidated by the State Treasurer 1o replace the public deposits not covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation. Deposits above FDIC coverage are collateralized by the pledging financial institution’s trust
department or agent in the name of the Mississippi State Treasurer on behalf of the City,

At September 30, 2023, deposits {including restricted deposits) are as follows:

Bank Carrying
Bakance Amaunt
Pooled deposils:
Cash and cash equivalents £ 19,731,053 § 20,309,632
Mon-popled deposiis:
Cash and cash cquivalents 43,287,987 40,211,577
Tatal § 63,019,040 £ 60,521,209

Srvestimeints

The City is allowed, by statute, to invest excess funds in any bonds or other direct obligations of the United
States of America or the State of Mississippi, or of any county or municipality of this state, when such county
or municipal bonds have been properly approved. At September 30, 2023, all the City's investmenis were in
money market mutual funds that are considered cash equivalents.
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SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 2: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

Tevestmenis (Comtined)

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America establishes a fair value hierarchy
that prioritizes the inputs 1o valuation technigques used to measure Tair value. The hierarchy gives the highest
priority 1o unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements)
and the lowest priority to measurements invelving significant unobservable input {Level 3 measurements).
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

* Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the City has the ability to access al the measurement date,

#  Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted priced included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

# Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Intevest Raie Risk This is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of
an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value
to changes in market interest rates. The City does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment
maturitics as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from inereasing interest rates. All
of the City"s investiments are in Money Markel Mutual funds which have an investiment maturity of less than
one year. The State and local government securities also have a maturity of less than one year,

Concentration of Credit Risk The City places no limit on the amount the City may invest in any one issuer.
More than 5 percent of the City's investments ane in Money Markel Mutual Funds,

Credit risk  Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of a debt type investment will not fulfill its
obligation to the holder of the investment. This is measured by assignment of a rating by a nationally
recognized rating organization. LS. Government securities or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U5,
government are nol considered to have credit risk exposure. All of the City’s investments have been given the
AAA rating.

NOTE 3: RECEIVABLES
Receivables at September 30, 2023, consist of the following:

Governmental  Business-lype

Activities Activities
Cieneral Fund Tatal

Franchise taxes £ DIEI4s 5 - i D18, 145
Court fnes aind Fees 7,007,304 - 7,107,304
Linility eustomer charges 0,055 2 RE2 644 3,542 701
Oiher receivables 1,140,539 T [, 140,300
Total receivables, gross 0826043 2BBIA16 [2,709.459
Less allowance for

doubtiul receivables (7,326,132) 1061, 946) (B, I8 078)
Total receivables, net £ 2499911 ¥ 1.B21470 5 4321381

Special Assessments

The City charges the costs of land code violations as a special assessment attached to property taxes. Al
September 30, 2023, the City had $233,614 in receivables related to special assessments included in other
receivables and $175.019 in delinguent receivables included in allowance for doubtful receivables.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 3: RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Property Taves

The City levies a tax on real and personal property based on the assessed value of property as compiled by the
Harrison County Tax Assessor. The taxes on real and personal property attach as an enforceable lien on the
property as of Janvary | of each year, Taxes on real and personal property are levied by the City Council at
the first regular mecting in September. Through an inter-local agreement, all of the property taxes of the City
of Biloxi are collected by the Hamrison Counly Tax Collector and remitled as tax sefllements (less an
appropriate collection fee) to the City on a monthly basis. Taxes for the Biloxi Public School District are also
billed and collected by the county and remitted to the schools through the City.,

Restrictions associated with property tax levies vary with the statutory authority. State law limits the amount
of incresse in certain property taxes. In accordance with the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, the City
Council may levy taxes in any amount for general revenue purposes and general improvements,

However, taxes for any assessment year may nod exceed one hundred ten percent (110%) of the taxes collected for
the prior assessment year. For purposes of the compaation, taxes collected in the current year resulting from
property added to the tax assessment roll are excluded from the computation. In addition, the City Council may
levy additional taxes for specific purposes, such as culture and recreation, as authorized by law.

Accounting principles generally accepled in the United States of America require property taxes (o be
recognized at the levy date if measurable and available, All property taxes are recognized as revenue when
received, Personal properly taxes are recognized as revenue when received because most delinquent personal
property taxes are collected by selling the property for taxes, together with all fees, penalties and damages
aceruing until date of sale, before the close of the fiscal year. The remaining amount of personal propeny not
sold for taxes at the tax sale is recorded as delinquent taxes receivable.

The tax levies for the City for the fiscal vears ended September 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021 are as follows:

2023 2022 2021
City Funds
General Fund 1967 19.67 19.05
Special revenue funds;

[Msakility and Relief (Pension) Funds 1.7 1.5 202
Debt Service Funds 8.70 B.51 901
Lolid waste collection and disposal 0.02 0,02 0.02

Total City administered funds 30,10 3010 30,10

School Funds
Dristrict Maintenance 42.1% 44,55 4].28
School Debt 104G 2.70 2,00
Total Sclvol administered funds 4325 43.25 4337
Total levy 71,35 73.35 7347

Crawiing Revenwe

In 1992, the citizens of Harrison County voded to allow dockside casino gaming as defined by the Mississippi
Gaming Control Act of 1990, In August of 1992, the first casino opened at Biloxi's Point Cadet development.
As of Seplember 30, 2023, there were eight casinos operating within the City of Biloxi. Gaming aclivities are
taxed in a variety of ways., The State of Mississippi levies a sliding scale tax on gross gaming revenue, of
which Harrison County and the City of Biloxi receive 4 to .8 percent. This tax is divided 73.4% to the
County, and 26.6% to the City of Biloxi, The allocation is based upon the population demographics of the

last official census,
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NOTE 3: RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Crampingge Revenne (Comffnied)

In addition to the State tax, the City of Biloxi, through local erdinance in accordance with state law, levies an
additional 3.2% tax on gross gaming revenues. This tax is distributed as follows: 60% to the General Fund,
(20% of which is designated for public safety); 20% to the Biloxi Public Schools; 10% to Harrison County for
public safety; and 10% to Harrison County Schools. In addition to the taxes on gross gaming revenue, the
State, City and County annually receive licensing fees and permils from each casino for each gaming device.

The tollowing is an analysis of the gaming revenues reported in the General Fund:

Local option 3.2% tax $ 20938611
Lacal share of state tax 2061.533
Gaming licenses and permits ||14'|],E?5

Tolal gaming revenues § 24,261.019
- —

NOTE 4: IUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS

Sefes Tox

The State levies a 7% sales tax on retail sales and remits 18.5% of the amount collected (within the corporate
boundaries of the City of Biloxi) back to the City monthly. Sales tax receivable is included in due from other
governments on the statement of net position and balance sheet — governmental funds and consists of taxes
collected by the State for August and September 2023 and not received by the City until October and

Movember 2023,
Due from other governments at September 30, 2023, consists of the following:
Governmental Busincss-Type

Activities Activities
Cieneral Fund Water and Sewer Tistal
Grants g S117,626 % TA34,053 $ 12,552,579
County road tax I, 076,083 - 1,076,083
Harrison County, ad valorem 136,509 - 136,509
State of Mississippi, gaming taxes and fecs 3,920,895 - 3,920,895
State of Mississippi, sales tax diversion 2463 489 - 2AG3 489
Total due from other governments 5 12,7 04,0002 i 7434953 § 20,149,555
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NOTE 5: CAPITAL ASSETS
The following is a summary of capital assels activity for the year ended September 30, 2023;

Balamce Binlance
Crhoioher 1, Tronsfers! Replember 30,
LI Additions Disposals Adjustmenis 023
Gevermmeninl Activities
Copilsl nssels, ot being depreciated:
Land § 46,1680 5§ 189433 5 - 5 - 5 46,533,023
Consruction in progress 13,580,250 T.028. 1% (13,297,06%) (3019037 37,792,320
Tidal capitnl assets,
mol being deprociated 119,924,044 TREG629 {13,297 980} (3L 119,137) B4,325.443
Copdtal assels, being depreciated:
Huildings 137,036,815 . (245,821) . 136,791,014
Improvements other than buildings . 33,868,217 . (226,383) 2,550,821 36,194,655
Mnchinery and equipment 48,979,757 A 903 2HZ [T072, 162) Bi.042 46,200,919
Infmsinsciure - strocls and dminnge 195,323,974 L5102 - 1. 965,060 108, BO0, 146
Right of nme assels - leases 1026933 197,020 {-IH,'}SI'.I]- - 1,00 a3
Right of uie assets - suhseriptions 3,300.462 115265 - 3425 T
Total capital astets,
being depreciaed 419436178 7,036,609 (8,550, 3546) 4,308,921 423512444
Liss acoumulated depeccimion for;
Bouildings {34.480,515) (3,216,336) Bl 456 - {37,635, 305)
[mprovemsenis olher than buildings (13415831} {1,609, 362) 216,383 - (14,798,810}
Machinery and equipment (37,157,778) (791,170 6,725,937 ‘ (33.223.013)
Infrastructure - sirects nedd drainage (THBG1,569) (3113887} - - (B2 175.756)
Right of wse nssets - leases (521,576) (257.038) 414,990 . (363,624)
Right of use nssels - subscriptions {497, 199) {542 998) ; = {1.040,197)
Todal sccumubnied
amoriatian and depreciation {164,934, ThHE) {10, 730,7953 7428, TH6 . { 169,236, 705)
Totnl capliinl asseis,
beimp deprecinied, pet 254, 500 410 [4,694,054) {1,130,590) 4,598,923 253,275,649
Total povernmental sctivitics
capital asseis, net B3 426,550 ¥ 3123533 SCI4428570)  S(25.520.214) 3337600002
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SEPTEMBER 30, 2023
NOTE 5: CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)
Bnlance Balance
Oclaber 1, Tramsfers' Seplember 30,
22 Additlons [Hsposals Adjissiments 2023
Business-type Activities
Capiinl assets, nod belng depreciated:
Land 5 73060 5 5,000 5 - 5 - 5 TIRGN
Consinaction in progress 2019, 506,503 27,308,751 - {16,305, 308 ) 50,700,256
Tl capitnl assets,
not being deprecinbed 230,310,064 27313751 - {196, 205,358} SLAIEAIT
Cupital assets, being deprecisied:
Equipnsen 6,934,190 261,774 (212,939 - 6,983,025
Wler and sewer sysiem 133,320,795 6E7 SHE - 21068810 373,007,591
Part bulldimgs & improvements 54,224, BGT - (287 433} GhG, R0 54,593,816
Righd ol use asseis - leases 120,581 - - - JE05E]
Right of use asseis - suhseriptions 28 02E - - - 428028
Total capital asscs,
being depreciated 215128461 49, 760 [300,772) 220,725,612 437,303,061
Less accunmlabed depreciation for:
Fquipment (5,273,107} (351,372) 212930 . (5.411,540)
Water and sewer syslem (00,615, 4446) {5,676,307) - - (66,295,753)
Port buildings & improvemenis {28,274, 140) {2,366, 146} 150,509 - {30,480,777)
Right of wse assels - beases (102,555) (71,587) 5188 . (168,954)
Right af mse azzels - subseriplions (61,072} (61072} - - (122,144
Total pecumudnied
amarliestbon and depreciation (94,330,300 (8.526454) 377636 - (102479, 16E)
Todol capitnl asseds,
being deprecialed, net 130,798, 141 {7,5746,724) (123,138) 2217256102 334,823,893
Todal siness-ype aclivilies
capiinl assets, nel 534 1,108,305 § 19.737,027 5 EIH.IJEE 5 25520214 586,242,310
Prinsary Cioveranen
Todnl capital assets, nel £715,534,555 5 22,860,562 E lll-.Sfrl.'i"]ﬁi 5 = 723,843 402

Depreciation and amaortization expense was charged to the following governmental functions:

Govermmental Aetivithes

General government 5 2059834
Community development 512,155
Culiural affairs 1,124, 962
Parks and recreation 1,620,035
Public safcty 2,793,731
Public works 268,775
Engineering 11,612
Infrastructure 3,310,699
1,730,793
Business-type Activities

Water and Sewer 6,133,304
Port fund 2,393, 180
8,526,484

Total depreciation and amonization
expensc b 2&25?{1??
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NOTE 6: LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

Lessor

The City is a lessor under 32 non-cancelable lease arrangements involving the lease of City assets. The
agreements permit the lessee the right to use the specified asset for the term of the agreement.  The terms of
the agreements range from 1 to 23 years; expiring between October 2024 and September 2053, Three of the
leases contains variable payment adjustments based on revenues, These amounts are not included in the lease
receivable calculation and related deferred inflows — leases. For the year ended September 30, 2023 the City
recognized $3,611,928 in lease revenue and $877,264 in interest income related to these agreements, These
amounts are included in charges for services in the statement of activities. The variable lease revenues for the
year ended are $1,040,314. In pddition, the City reported $49,758,461 in lease receivables and $49,007,007
in deferred inflows of resources related to leases.

The following is a schedule of future minimum rentals through the end of the lease agreements in effect as of
Seplember 30, 2023, nol including varinble lease revenues:;

Year Ending Crovermmienial Activilies Husiness-type Activities Tastal
September 30, Primcipal Interest Principal Inleres] Receipls
2024 5 453611 5 532719 ¥ 631331 § 10578 5 3028239
2025 2429630 Ta2 562 50,043 0000 3281244
L] 2421,7T00 751,976 3,164 5344 1216274
2027 2442517 710,934 31,147 7,759 3,192,357
2028 2478937 G2 250 31,332 T.246 3,186,765
2029-2033 12,998,522 2,696,785 164,647 28,244 15,888,198
2034-2038 13,725 6% 1,548,684 174,787 14,104 15467271
203%-2043 0159535 JEZ.008 69,987 1418 D6012.048
2044-2048 252 3189 34,0958 - - 287,347
2049-2053 204,387 11,076 - - 215,463

5 48,567,023 § 8430952 $ 1,191,438 S 86,603 § 58,276,106

Lessee

The City is lessee under 66 non-cancelable lease agreements involving the lease of office facilities, office
equipment, lighting, and police vehicles. The agreements permit the City the right to use the specified
property for the term of the agreements,

The following is a schedule of the City's lease linbilities related to these leases at September 30, 2023:

Year Ending Ciowernmemtal Activitics Business-type Activitbes Tatal

September 30, Principal [iterest Principal Interest Requirements
2024 § 233,889 5 11,455 £ 48309 5 219 £ 283872
2025 190,836 T.263 1,781 &1 10 S 1
2026 1485904 3,190 I 65 26 [ 53,784
2027 44,655 584 - - 45,239
2028 13,938 202 - - 34,140

2029 2,846 a 2 848

2 =
S 655,068 $ 2269 $ 51,754 $ 326 § 729,844
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SEPTEMBER 30, 2023
NOTE 7: SUBSCRIFTTON LIABILITY

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASE) Statement No. 96 — Subseription-Based Information
Technology Agreements was implemented for the year ended Seplember 30, 2023, Beginning net position
has been adjusted for the cumulative effect of implementing the change in accounting principle. See Note 17
for more information.

The City is subject to 14 non-cancelable agreements involving the use of technology software. The
agreements permit the City to use the specified software for the term of the agreement.  The following is a
schedule of the City's subscription linbility at September 30, 2023:

Year Ending Governmental Aclivities Business-type Aclivitics Taotal
September 30, Principal Imergst Principal [acrest Regquirements
2024 § 53950 § 26075 § s722 8 39 5 6l3005
2025 448 246 19872 531,862 2,758 524,738
2026 331,906 13,861 36,075 2,246 404,086
127 316,529 10,305 58,355 1,713 186,902
028 33,042 6,798 60,710 1,159 3g1T09
2029 316,423 3417 61,287 582 381,709

$ 2260105 5 B0 5 M2009 5 IL707 S 2.694,149

NOTE 8: SHORT TERM DEBT

The fellowing is a summary of short-term debt activity for the year ended September 30, 2023

Oiriginal Interest Balance Balonce
I55ue Rale /12022 Hedemplions 3002023
Governmental activities
Ciram anticipation node 412021 108%  § 243055 5 843,055 £ -
Total shori-ierm capital borrowings 5 B43.0353 £ B43,055 5

The purpose of the shar-term borrowings was to provide resources for costs of recovery from Hurricane Zeta,
The form of financing used in all cases was anticipation receipt of grant funds, The amounts issued for
governmental activities are accounted for in the capital projects fund.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 9: LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Changes in long-term liabilities during the year ended September 30, 2023 are as follows:

[aksnce Primcipal Dalance
Oetaber 1, Paynents September 30, Due within
222 Additions Adjusiments Reductions 223 Une Year
Gievernmental Activilles
Ciemeral Cihligation Bonds £ 72a0R000 S - SO40750000 S (4541000 § 320892000 5 4,329,000
Tax Inerement Limied
Oinligation Biomds 106G, 105, 730 - - (2, 065.036) 13,040, 054 L8565
Exquipment lsiablnent loans T.A81,220 b T2, 000 - {1,10,072) T804, 148 I 140431
Lease payahle S50, 195 307 020 = (251.147) 055 06R 233.8%0
Subseription lEabilises 256,759 210650 - (524.303) 12640, 106 533,050
Compensated dhsences QTROG5T 2,088 2EG . {2,327.574) 9,641,360 1410342
Met pension Halxdliy AT005, 500 - 16,506,342 - 113,575,844 .
Todal governmental activilies SME1Eﬂﬁ] E«I.SEEI'I'HE- 5 I‘iﬂli?l-ﬂ E IIIIIIHI'IIJlt § kT %] lEHIJIS
Bimsiness-1ype Activitics
Waler and Sewer noles payable 5 6910121 § - ¥ - $ (477,085) 5 6434036 5 AB5501
Lisnited lax Porl Bomds s, D00, (N0 - - (3 00,000) & 700000 125,006
Dirimking waler loan LR = s (57,211} 597102 58,336
Equipmcnl instalkment loans 41218 - E (43.218) - -
Lewse poyabde 18163 3 18R - (71,5497) 51,754 48,305
Suhseriplian linkildies IR4.014 . . {42,025 342,009 51,722
Compensaied absenoes 03658 2X1,20% - {188, 748) H2,015 135,531
el pension lighility 5, 704, TOS 36,178 7

Total business-type activities 5 20419096 § 233393 § :Jﬁ;l?t 5 (1,189,864) § 20,597,903 § 1,104,399

The General and Water and Sewer Funds provide the resources for the retirement of compensated absences,
For the year ended September 30, 2023, interest and fees incurred and charged 1o expense totaled $2,804,358
in the governmental activities and $340,032 included in expenses, in the business-type activilics.

Bonds Payable

At September 30, 2023, the City had the following outstanding bonds payable:

Ralance
Date Mlnguriiy Ingeves) Cwriginal Seplendber 30,
Issued Danle Ralc Amaount 2023
Governmental Activithes:
Ciereral obligation bonds:
General abligation bends Seties 2019 E201% 3102050 Variakle 14,000,000 511,950,000
Genernl oblipation bosds Series 2017 VAT A0 Yariakle 7,000,000 4,625 004
Ceneral obligation bosds Series 2002 A2m2 A/1/2027 Yarinble 4,000, (D 151 5,000
Gieneral obligation boods Series 2020 G030 L Varialle B.662 00 05, 520 000
{iencral obligntion bonds Series 20304 G2 3004 Vnrinhle 1, 205, DN 15,44 1000
Special obligation bosds, Series 2022 552002 BINI04Z 2.75% 4,000,000 13,532,000
Limited Obligmion Bonds
Tax imcrement limited obligation bond Series 2021 W152021 &1/029 147 1,854, 300 1,386,000
Tax increment imited obligaiion bornd Series 3006 TWU206 117152027 Warishle 20,020,000 10,950,000
Tax imcrement limited obligaiion bond Series 2004 GRS 1SN0 4.07% 095,000 1,594,604
Tatal governiental aetivities 00,779,000 67,932,694
Business-type Activities:
Limsied ta Poni Bonds
Part boouls Series A & [ E0) P PR Varinble 7,500,000 5,700,000
Tortnl business-type ativitics 1500000 5, 700,000
Talal bomds $ OOBITRODD  STATIN0M

a4



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEFTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 9: LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (Continued)

Bomids Payable (Continued)
The City’s future principal and interest requirements related to the bonds payable are as follows:

Year Ending Governmental Activities Business-lype Activities Total
September 30, Principal Inderest Principal Interest Reguirements
2024 § 7514094 5 1,982,296 § 325,000 5 19214 5 10,014,734
el 6,904,000 1,763,668 335,000 179,744 o 182412
2026 7,128,000 1,537,648 350,000 169,004 9,184,742
207 71,364,000 1,302,806 360,000 157,944 S, 1844 840
2028 7055000 1,061,242 375,000 146,494 8,637,736
2029-2003 17,789,000 3422174 2,080,000 544,631 23,835,805
20342038 9,743,000 1,436,892 1,965,000 172,238 13,317,130
2039-2043 4,435,000 255,111 4604111

£ 67,932,604 512,765,927 55,790,000 ¥ 1,562 889 5 BEO51.510
—_—— e

The City Council annually adopts a resolution providing for the amount of property tax millage necessary to
be levied and collected by the City in the next fiscal year for the payment during such year of principal and
interest on all cutstanding general obligation bonds of the City. The millage rate for the year ended September
30, 2023, was 8.7 mills or $8.70 per 51,000 of assessed value.

MNotes Payable from Divect Borvowings
At September 30, 2023, the City’s omtstanding notes payable from direct borrowings are described as follows:

Balance
Dinte Aelatumrity Imlerest Original Sepienvher 30,
Issued [t Rate Ao 2023
Fusiness-dype Activities:
Siate ol MS Hevolving Fund Loan WO 10052032 1.75% 8 2006577 51471953017
Sinbe of M5 Revolving Fund Loan MY KA 1.75% 4,185,344 2884514
Sinke of M5 Revalving Fund Loan Q04 WR037 1.75% 2 TH A3 2,070,205
Sinte of M5 Dirinking Wober
Improvemen| Loan VA 2R 1.95% 1,133,861 S07,01032
Totnl bugingss-type aclivilies 10,990,216 7,031,138
Toial notes payable ﬂﬂ.’ﬂ'ﬂl}jlﬁ- £7.031,138

Principal and interest maturities will be as follows:

¥ear Ending Business-type Activities Total
Seplember 30, — Principal ___ Interest Requirements
2024 $ 543817 S 119826 5 663,660
2025 353,550 110,113 663,663
2026 563,436 100,227 663,663
2027 573,499 90,164 663,663
2028 583,742 79,921 663,663
2029-2033 2,891 400 240,605 3132004
2034-2038 1,321,665 40,206 1,361,871

£ 7031138 % 7RIL062 0§ TBIX200
—_—a ————
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 9: LONG-TERM LIABILITIES {Continued)
MNotes Payable from Direct Borrowings (Continued)

General long=term debt of the business-type activities is $7,031,138 of pollution control/state revolving loans
and drinking water improvement loans from the State of Mississippi. The State Tax Commission, in
accordance with a signed agreement with the City of Biloxi, is currently deducting $55,305 cach month from
the sales tax remittances to the City to apply as payments on these loans.

Installment Loans

The City has entered into several installment loans to finance the purchase of a fire station, five fire trucks,
tasers, a computer dispaich and records system, and an energy performance project.  The purchases were
financed at a fixed, simple interest rate. Title to the energy performance equipment is held in the name of the
City and Hancock Bank as licn holder and the agreement contains a bargain purchase option afier 20
paymenis. Title to the fire trucks are held in the name of City; Bancleasing LLC and PNC as lien holders.
Title 1o the fire station and related equipment is held in the name of the City and Regions Equipment Finance
Corporation as lien holder and the agreement contains a purchase option. Title to the computer dispatch and
records system is held in the name of the City with The First Bank as lien holder and the agreement contains a
purchase oplion.

The installment loan obligations outstanding as of September 30, 2023, are as follows:

Balance
Date Maturity Interest Original September 30,
Issned Date Rate Aot 203
CGovernmental Activifies:
Enstallmeent loans:
Tasers - Axon emerprise, Inc. IO I272021  1IW142026 Mg £ A55]000 % 371,925
Fire station - Regions Equipment 20018 /12033 3.63% 4,250,000 3,071,439
Fire trucks - BancLeasing, LLC 1110 912026 2,50 1,016,923 455,678
Energy performance - Honcock Bank 41572016 QAT 2.29% 1,984, 837 R48.523
CAD and records system - Motorola 226021 12/ 152030 1.94% 1,978,918 Le0T, 125
Fire trucks - BancLeasing, LLC 32900023 52030 1 0% 1,725,000 1451 458
Total povernmenzal aclivities 11,506,698 7806, 148
Total capital lease obligations S11.506698 5 7,806,148

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under capital leases and the net present value
of these minimum lease payments as of September 30, 2023:

Yeor Ending Giovernmental Activities Totl

Scptember 30, Principal Interest Requirements
2034 5 1,141,431 § 236628 51373050
2025 1,172,446 2054613 1,378,059
2026 1,204,649 173411 1,378,060
2027 054,323 140210 1,0, 553
2028 760,162 111,165 871,327

2002033 2,573,137 123333 2,794,460

$ 7806148 $1,000350  $8896,498
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NOTE 9: LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (Continued)
General Obligation Bond Refunding Series 20204

On June 8, 2020, the City issued 516,206,000 in Series 2020A general obligation bonds with interest rates of
| .95% - 2.25% on the refunding date. The City issued the bonds 1o provide for the advance refunding of
oulstanding series 20148 general obligation bonds with an outsianding balance of 516,900,000 at 3.6%
interest rate on the refunding date. The net proceeds were not sufficient to defease the full amount of the
ontstanding series 20148 bonds. The net proceeds of $15,954 460 (afler bond issuance costs of $251,540)
were deposited into an irrevocable trust to provide the debt service requirements of the new refunding bonds.
Per GASB No.B6, the bond refunding was considered to be a crossover refunding whereby the old and new
debt were included in the City's debt obligations. The imevocable trust and owmtstanding series 20148 bonds
remained in the City's assets and liabilities, respectively, until the debt was fully defeased in the current year.
As of September 30, 2023 the debt has been fully defeased and as such the imevocable trust and outstanding
series 20148 bonds have been removed from the City’s assets and liabilities.

Legal Debi Margin

The amount of debt, excluding specific exempted debt that can be incurred by the City is limited by state
statute. Total outstanding debt during a year can be no greater than 15% of assessed value of the taxable
property within the City, according to the last completed assessment for taxation. In no case shall the total

indebtedness exceed 20% of the assessed value of the property.

The City’s legal debt limit for general obligation bond was $144,808,196 and the legal debt margin was
$83,785,058 at September 30, 2023,

NOTE 10: INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS

Interfund Receivables and Payables

Generally, outsianding balances between funds reported as “due to/due from other funds” include outstanding
charges by one fund to another for services or goods (such as utility services) and other miscellaneous
receivables/payables between funds. Activities between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing
arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are described as “due to/due from other funds.”

Any residual balances outstanding between governmental activities and business-type activities are reported
in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.”
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NOTE 10: INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS
Interfund Receivables and Payables
The interfund balances at September 30, 2023 are as follows:

D From Due To
CHher Funds Other Funids

Geeneral Fund:

Gieneral Capital Projects Fund 5 8,546,205 5 -

Claims Contingency Fund for Clains and Expenses - (49:4,427)

Total General Fund 8,546,205 (494,427
General Capital Projects Funad;

Gieneral Fund - (8,546, 205)

Total General Capital Projects Fund - (8,546,205
Enterprise Fund:

Water'Sewer for Claims and Expenses - [53,555)

Bilexi Port Fund fior Claims and Expenses - (19,916)

Toal Enterprise Fund . {73.471)
Internal Service Self-Insurance Fund:

Clains Contingency Fund from General Fund 454 427

Claims Contingency Fund from Water Sewer 53,555 -

Claims Contingency Fund from Porl Fund 19,916 -

Total Internal Service Sell-Insurance Fund 567,898 -
Total 5 '!i'il lfIII'[IE- 5 s'ﬂil !dl Iﬂﬂ]

Interfund Translers

Transfers and payments within the reporting enlity are substantially for the purposes of funding capital
projects and asset acquisitions, grant matching requirements, subsidies of various Cily operations and re-
allocations of special revenues.

The govemment-wide statement of activities eliminates transfers as reported within the segregated
governmental and business-type activities columns.

Interfund transfers between funds during the vear ended September 30, 2023 consist of the following:

Transfers In Transfiers Ot

General Fund £  AIR2ES F (2197481}
General Capital Projects Fund 2,117,808 (28,562,919)
Debt Service Fund g99,143 -
Other Non-major Governmental Funds 50,000 (1,306,740)

Total Governmental Funds 2,685,230 (32,067, 140)
Water and Scwer 32,389,510 (155,375)
Biloxi Port Fund 3,669,821 (6,271,607
Internal Service Fund 349,555 =

Total Proprictary Funds 36,408,886 (7,026,982}
Total £39,044,122 5 (39,094, 122)
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 10: INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Interfund Transfers {continwed)

Transfers are used to 1) move revenues from the fund with the collection authorization to the debt service
fund as debt service principal and interest payments become due, 2) move restricted amounts from
borrowings to the debt service fund to establish mandatory reserve accounts, and 3) move unrestricted general
fund reserves to Minance various programs that the City must account for in other funds in accordance with
budgetary awthorizations, including amounts provided as subsidies or matching funds for various grani

programs.
NOTE 11: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The City of Biloxi participates in two retirement systems administered by the Public Employees™ Retirement
System of Mississippi (PERS). Both systems are defined benefit plans and include a multiemployer, cost-
sharing pension plan and an agent multi-employer pension plan as described below:

Diefimed Benefii Pension Plan

All firemen and policemen hired prior to March 1, 1976, are covered by the Firemen's and Policemen’s Disability
and Relief Plan. All other City employees employed prior to February 5, 1975, are covered by the Employees'
Disability and Relief Plan. Both the Firemen's and the Policemen's Disability and Relief Plan and the Employee’s
Disability and Reliel Plan are agent multiple-emplover defined benefit pension plan administered by the Public
Employvees Retirement System of Mississippi.

Flan Description

Under the provisions of Chapter Mo. 511 of the General Laws of the State of Mississippi, 1987, effective October
I, 1987, the administrative responsibility for these retirement systems was assigned to the Mississippi Municipal
Retirement System, n progrum of the Public Employees’ Retirement System of Mississippi.  The City las no
control over the adminisiration of the plans. PERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes
financial statements and required supplementary information. That information may be obtained from its website,
www.pers.ms.gov, by writing fo Public Employees Retirement System, PERS Building, 429 Mississippi Street,
Jackson, MS 39201 - 1005 or by calling (601)352-358% or 800-444-PERS,
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NOTE 11: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Defined Benefit Pension Plan (continued)

Cennteibntions

Based wpon annual actuarial data provided by PERS, the City levies a tax millage sufficient to fund the current
obligations for retirement payments and also provide the recommended amount to reduce the balance of the
unfunded employer liability. For the year ended September 30, 2023 the combined milkage was 1,71 mills, The
City is required by statmte to set a tax levy sufficient to fund the annual required contribution. The plan
administrator, The Mississippi Municipal Retirement System, provides actuarial data for the two plans combied.
The City"s contributions to PERS for the year ended September 30, 2023 were $1,055,088. The employer
contributions were made in accordance with contribution requirements determined by an actuarial valuation of the
system as of June 30, 2022, The City accounts for these closed plans as a single, agent multiple-employer defined
benefit plan.

Current membership in the City's Mississippi Municipal Retirement System is composed of no active members and
69 retirces and beneficiaries.

Benefiis Provided

Participating employees who retire, regardless of age, with at least 20 years of credited service arc entitled fo an
anmual retirement allowance, payable monthly in an amount equal to 50% of their average monthly compensation
plus an additional 1.7% for each year of credited service in excess of 20 years with a maximum of 66 2/3% of
avernge monthly compensation. Average monthly compensation is the average for the last 6 months of service.
Certain death and disability benefits are also provided by these plans which are governed by State statute and City
ardinances.

f Pension Liabili

The “Met Pension Liability™ (NPL) is the difference between the “Total Pension Liability: (TPL) and the plan’s
“Fiduciary Net Position™ (FNP). The TPL is the present value of pension benefits that are allocated to current
members due to past service by entry age normal actuarial cost method. The TPL includes benefits to projected
salary and service, and automatic cost of living adjustments (COLAs). In addition, ad hoe COLAs are also
included in the TPL to the extent they are substantively amtomatic. The FNP is determined on the same basis used
by the pension plan. The City's net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023 and the tofal pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023,

The City"s net pension liability at measurement date is as follows:

Total pension lability £ 20,102,855
Fiduciary net pension [7,826,230]
Met pension liability 5 12.2Tﬁ£lﬂ
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NOTE 11: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Defined Benefit Pension Plan {continued)

ity o Relief Plon and Emplopee

Schedule of Clewiges i Net Pewsion Liabiliny

The change in net pension liability, for the Disability and Relief municipal pension plan, for the fiscal vear ended
September 30, 2023 is as follows:

Flan Met Pension
Total Pension Fiducinry Met Liability
Liability {a) Position (b} (a) - (b}
Change in Met Pension Liability
Interest 5 449917 5 - £ 1449917
Difference between expecied
and acteal expericnce (379,893} . (AT0.893)
Changes of assumplions 7099 519 - TOh 519
Contributions - employer . I 37843 (1,137,843}
Met investment income - 552,509 (352,50%)
Berefit payments, ivcluding refunds
of employee contributions (1,941,780) (1,941,780} -
Administrative expense - 22,757) 22,757
Met clange (72,237} {274,185) 201,948
Met pension liability beginning 20,175,091 B 100421 12,074,670
Met pension liability ending 5 EUHIMIHH 5 TIEEﬁlISﬁ 5 12276618

Dreferved Chiffones and Inffows of Resorces

Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources by source reported by the City at September 30,
2023 for the Disability and Relief Municipal plan are as follows:

Deferred Outflows  Deferred Inflows
of Resource of Resources

Met difference between projected

and actual earnings on invesiments 8 272,481 £ -
£ 272481 b

Amounts reporied as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension al
September 30, 2023 will be recognized in pension expenses as follows:

Year ended Septerber 30 Amount
2024 £ 21,986
2025 {56,408)
20246 301,330
2027 HS73
5 ETEﬂEI
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
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SEFTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 11: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)
Defined Benefit Pension Plan {continued)

Diseeiwit Rate The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00 percent. The projection of cash
flows used to determing the discount mie assumed thal plan member contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that Employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially
determined contribution rates and the member rale. Based on those assumplions, the pension plan's fiduciary net
position was projected o be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied io all periods of projected benefit
payments o determine the total pension liability.

Sensiitvity of the nef pension lobility to chorges in the discornd rate The following presents the City’s
proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the
City"s proportionate share of the nel pension liability would be if it were caleulated using a discount rate that is 1-
percentage-point-lower (6.00%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.00%4) that curment rate:

Current
195 Decrease Discount Rabe 1% Increase
[6.00%5) {7.00%) (8.00%)
City's proportionate share of the
plan's net pension liability § 13,895934 3 12,276,618 $ 10,865,359

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30 two years prior to the end of the fiscal year in
which comtributions are reported. Contributions for the year ending September 30, 2023 were based on the June 30,
2021 actuarial valuation:

Actuarial cost method Ultimate Asset Reserve

Amorlization method BrA

Remaining amortizatien period MA

Asset valuation method Blarket value of psscis

Actuarial assumpions;

Inflation 2.40%

Salary Increases i

Invesiment rate of Petirm 6,05%, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation
' Rl i

All full-time City employees hired after June 30, 1987, participate in the Public Employees” Retirement System of
Mississippd (PERS). Other City employees hired prior to July 1, 1987 may elect to participate in the retirement
sysiem under an option offered by PERS,

Plan Deseripsion

The City of Biloxi contributes to the Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi (PERS), a cost-sharing
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the State of Mississippi's Public Employees’
Retirement System's Board of Trustees. Benefit provistons are established by State law and may be amended only
by the State of Mississippi Legislature. PERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information.  That information may be obtained from its website,
www PERS. ms.gov, by writing to Public Employec Retirement System, PERS Building, 429 Mississippi Street,
Jackson, MS 39201-1005, or by calling (601) 359-358% or 1-800-444-PERS.
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NOTE 11: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Defined Benefit Pension Plan (continued)

Prbilte Emplopess” Retivement System (Contin i)
Benefits provided

PERS provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death benefits to plan
members and bencficiaries, Participating members who are vested and retire al or afler age 60 or those who retire
regardless of age with at least 30 years of creditable services (25 vears ol ereditable service for employees who
became members of PERS before July 1, 201 1) are entitled, upon application, to an anneal retivement allowance
payable monthly for life in an amount equal to 2 percent of their average compensation for each year of creditable
service up o and including 30 years (25 years for those who became members of PERS before July 1, 2011}, plus
2.5 percent for each additional year of creditable service with and actuarial reduction in the benefit for each vear of
creditable service below 30 years or the number of years in age that the member is below 65, whichever is less.
Average compensation is the average of the employees eamings during the four highest compensated years of
creditable service. A member may elect a reduced retirement allowance payable for life with the provision tha,
after death, a beneficiary receives benefits for life or for a specified number of years, Benefits vest upon
completion of eight years of membership service (four years of membership service for those who became
members of PERS before July 1, 2007). PERS also provides cerain death and disability benefits. Benefit
provisions are established by Section 25-11-1 et seq., Mississippi Code Ann. (1972) and may be amended only by
the State Legislature,

A Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) is made to eligible retinces and beneficiaries. The COLA is equal to 3.0
percent of the annual retirement allowance for each full fiscal year of retirement up to the year in which the retired
member reaches age 60 (55 for those who became members of PERS before July 1, 2011), with 3 percent
compounded for each Mscal year thereafler,

“owairibefions

The contribution requirements of PERS members are established and may be amended only by the State of
Mississippi Legislature. The adequacy of these rates is assessed annually by actvarial valuation, PERS
members are required to contribute 9.00% of their annual covered salary, and the City is required to
contribute at an actuarially determined rate, The employer’s rate as of September 30, 2023 was 17.40% of
annual covered payroll. The City's contributions to PERS for the fiscal years ending September 30, 2023,
2022, and 2021 total §5,545,688, $5,278,287, and 5,181,645, respectively, which equal the required
contributions for each year,

Pension Linbilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Respurces and Deferved Inflows of Resowces

Related to Pensions

At September 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $108,140,112 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability, The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023 and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contribution
to the pension plan relative to projected contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined. At
September 30, 2023, the City’s proportion was 429958 percent, which was a decrease of 010681 percent
from its proportionate share mensured as of September 30, 2022,
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NOTE 11: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

Public Employees’ Retivesmest Systern {confinsied)

Pension Liabiltties, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Infloves of Resources
Related to Pensions foomtineed)

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $13,013,215. At September
30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 1o

pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
O flows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Governmental Ackivities;
Differences between expecied and actual experience § 2533295 § ®
Changes in assumptions 11,879,948 .
Wet difference between projected and aciual
earmings on pension plan investnwents 3058461 -
Change in proportionate share - 2383531
City contributions subsequent to the
micasurement date 147,442 -
Todals _5 0843146 5 23853531
Deferred [eferred
Cutflows of Inflows of
Respurces Hesources
Business-Type Activilics
Differences between expected and actual experience 174,374 § "
Changes in assumpdions B17,734 .
Met difference bebween projected and aciual
camings on pension plan investments 272471 =
Change in proportionate share - 164,201
City comtributions subsequent o the
measuremend date 101,283 -
Totals £ 1365862 5 IM‘EEL

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City contributions subsequent to the
measurcment date totaling 1,572,725 are recognized as a reduction to the net pension liability in the year
ending September 30, 2023, Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Yenr Amouni

024 § 5835361
2025 3667871
26 7,551,137
2027 32,182
Total £ 17,086,551
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NOTE 11: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS {Continuect)
Public Enployees’ Reticement Sysfei {eontiniied)
Actugrial OSSN S

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2022 and a measurement
date of June 30, 2023, by the new actuarial assumptions adopted by the Board subsequent to the June 30,
2022 valuation based on the experience investigation for the four-vear period ending June 30, 2022, and by
the investment experience for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, The following actuarial assumptions are
applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Invesiment rate of retum 7,00 percent, pet of pension plan investment expense, including infation
Projected sabary increases 2,65 - 1790 percent, including inflation
Infagion 240 percent

Monality rates were based on the PubS.H-2010(B) Retiree Table with the following adjustments. For males
95% of male rates up to age 60, 110% for ages 61 1o 75 and 101% for ages above 77. For females Bd% of the
female rates up to age T2 and 100% for ages above T6. Mortality rates will be projected generationally using
the MP-2020 projection scale to account for future improvements in life expectancy.

The actuarial assumptions used for the purposes of determining the total pension liability were based on the
results of an actuarial experience study Tor the period July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2022, The experience report is
dated April 21, 2023,

The long-term expected rate of retumn on pension plan invesimenis was determined using a log-normal
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected nominal
returns, nel of pension plan investment expense and the assumed rate of inflation) are developed for each
major asset class, These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future real mtes of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. The most recent target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of returm for each
major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Long-term

Target Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Fate of Return
Domestic equity 27.00% 4. 75%
International equity 22.00% 4.75%
Global equity 12,009 4.95%
Fixed income 20,0024 1.75%
Real cstate 10.00%% 1.25%
Private equity £.00% 6.00%
Cash equivalents 1.00R% 0.25%

Total 100,008
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NOTE 11: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)
Public Employees” Refirement Sysfem {confinied)

IHsconnt rale

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00 percent. The projection of cash flows
used to determing the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current
coniribution rate (9.00 percent) and that employer contributions will be phased in to 22.40% over three fiscal
vears (17.40% for FYE 2024, 19.40% for FYE 2025, 21.40% for FYE 2026, and 22.40% for FYE 2027).
Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projecied 1o be available to make
all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of
relurn on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the
total pension liability, In June 2024, there were legislative changes to the discount rate. See Note 19.

Senxitivity af the City's proporiionate share of the net penston lability to changes in the discount rate

The following table presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 7.00 percent, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability would
be if it were calenlated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.00 percent) or |-percentage-
point higher (8.00 percent) than the current rate:

City's Proportionate
Dhscount Share of Met
Rate Pension Liability
[% decrease G.00% £ 139440418
Current discount rate 7.00% £ 108,140,112
% Increase B.00% b 82,447,349

Pension plan felwelary wet position

Detailed information about the PERS pension plan is available in the separately issued PERS financial report,
available ab www pers.ms.gov,

Deferred Compensation Plan

The City offers the City's employees voluntary participation in a deferred compensation plan in accordance
with Intemal Revenuse Code Section 457, The Plan, Deferred Compensation Plan for Public Employees
administered by Nationwide Retirement Solutions, Inc., is available 1o all City employees and permits them
to defer a portion of their salary wntil future years. All plan assets are held in trust by Nationwide for the
exclusive benefit of the participants and their beneficiaries and not subject to the elaims of the City"s general
creditors,  Accordingly, the assets and liabilitics for the compensalion deferred by plan participants is not
reflected in the City's financial statements. During the year ended September 30, 2023, contributions by
participants employed by the City totaled $452, 163,

NOTE 12: DEFICIT FUND BALANCE

At September 30, 2023, the General Capital Projects Fund (a major fund) has a deficit fund balance of
$14,368,672. The deficit fund balance was caused by the difference in timing between expenses related to
project engineering and the budgeted revenue related to this project.
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NOTE 13:; SELF-INSURED RISK, CLAIMS AND OTHER CONTINGEMCIES
As described in Mote 1 to the financial statements, the City has established a self-insurance risk retention
program administered through an internal service fund., The following is a summary of the City's insurance

coverage and sell-insurance risk retention (SIR):

Properiy coverage excluding MGM property

Per occurrence for all ather perils 5 100,000
Per occurrence for iamed wind /il g 1,000,000
Per gccurrence For all other windhail % 250,000
Specific ¢xcess covernge in force & 75,000,000
MEGM property coverage
Per occurrence For all other perils £ 100, 000
Per vecurmence for named windhail % 500,000
Per occurmence for all other wind/Mhail 5 1 (0,006
Specific excess coverage in force 514,705,000
Equipment coverage
Per occurrence for all windTail 2%/5 100k Min
Per occurrence for flood, excluded excepl 2M on fire dept trucks & cquipment  5%% 100k Min
Per occurrence deductible for all ather penls - other scheduled equipment 5 5,000
Per occurrence deductible for fire trucks and physical damage (S1R) 5 100,00
Specific coverage in force all equipment coverage £ 19,570,141
Crime coverage
Per loss deductible employee theit £ 10, 000
Specific excess coverage in force employee theft $ 1,000,000
Workers compensation
Per occurrence deductible for police, firefighters, first responders (SIR) % 50,000
Per occurrence deductible for all other emplovees (SIR) 5 500,000
Specific excess coverage in force workers comp Statutory
Specific excess coverage in force employer's liability £ 1,000,000
General and other liability coverage
Per gecurrence deductible For general liakility (SIR) 4 [ 50,000
Specific excess coverage in force general liability, 52,550,000 apg. 8 B50,000
Per occurmence deductible for auto liability (SIR) £ | 500, 000
Specific excess coverage in force aulo Hability, no aggregate 5 830,000
Per wrongful act deductible for public officials and employment practices
liability (SIR) 5 150,000

Specific excess coverage in force public officials and employment practices
liability, 1,700,004 agg.

Per wronglful act deductible for sexual abuse (SIR)

Specific excess coverage in force sexual abuse, $500,000 agg. 250,10
Per individual deductible for employee benefils (SIR) | 50,000

5 850,000

b

5

5
Specific excess coverage in force employmee benefits, 1,700,000 agg. £ 50,000

£

5

5

£

150,000

Per individunl deductible for law enforcement {(S1R) 250,000
Specific excess coverage in force law enforcement $2,250,000 agg, 750,000
Per occurrence deductible for marina Bability 1,000

Specific covernge in force marina liability, £2,000,000 aggrepate 1,000,000
Health

Per individual deductible (SIR) g 125,000

Annual aggregate risk of loss through deductibles Mo limit

5
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NOTE 14: SELF-INSURED RISK, CLAIMS AND OTHER CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

The following is a summary of the City's sell<insurance reserves ol Seplember 30, 2023

Propery
Emploves Linbility &
Medical Workers'
Claiims Conpensation Total
Total estimated liability and reserves -

October 1, 2021 5 863,862 5 2,040,095 § 2903957
Clairs incurred and changes in estimates 8,573,061 LOI231E 9592370
Claims paid (8,058,657) (B82.954) (8.941,611)
Todal estimated linbility and reserves -

Seplember 30, 2022 1,378,266 2176450 3.554,725
Claims incurred and changes in estimales 7,570,348 213, TRY 8384135
Claims paid (7,713,838} {525 .354) (8,239,193}
Total estimated linbility and reserves -

September 30, 2023 51,234,776 5 2464 892 5 31650668

The City's reserves, including estimates for claims incurred but not reported, are developed by the City's third-
party claims administrator.  Administrative officials have reviewed the reserve estimates and consider them

fairly stated. Additionally, the liability has been actuarially evalusted and found to be reasonable.

NOTE 14: TAX ABATEMENTS

The Mississippi Code of 1972 Annotated §17-21-5, authorizes municipal governing authorities, in their
discretion, to granl exemptions from ad valorem taxation, except ad valorem taxation for school district
purposes, for new structures, or improvements 1o or renovations of existing strectures located in the central
business district of the municipality, for a period of not more than seven (7) years from the date of completion
of the new structure or the improvement to or renovation of the existing structure for which the exemption is
granted, The City adopted such an ordinance in 2019, which exempts eligible properties from up to 100% of
municipal ad valorem taxes on the increase in assessed value related to completed improvements, Per the
City ordinance, the City has granted tax abatements to two holels and one bank. For the year ended
September 30, 2023, ihe City abated 553,406 in taxes,

NOTE 15: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigniion

The City is party to legal proceedings, many of which occur in the normal course of governmental operations.
Although the outcome of these proceedings is not presently determinable, in the opinion of the City's legal
counsel the resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the linmncial condition of the
City.

Federal Grants

Iin the normal course of operations and as a result of the destruction from natural disasters, the City has
received grant funds from various Federal agencies. The grant programs are subject to audit by agents of the
granting authority, the purpose of which is to ensure compliance with conditions precedent to the granting of
funds.

Capital Project Commitment

In connection with the Capital Projects, the City budgeted cerain commitments for engineering services,
construction and other capital project costs, The projects are to be funded, in part, with State and Federal
grants. The remainder of the required funds will be generated by local sources,

58



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 15: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Capital Projeet Commitment (Continued)
The following is a summary of the budgeted commitment for future capital projects:

Contrac Expended to Remaining
Amouni Date Contract
Popps Ferry extension £ 6,034,340 b1 1,859,025 4,175,315
Popps Ferry Pass Rd 1o Riverview 5,431,300 2,524,296 2,907,005
Point Cadel marina improvemenis 76063710 3,615,949 4,047,770
Citywidie sircct repair 025,000 30,820 804, 200
Phain Street crossing upgrade 50,015 714,178 135,837
Woaalmarket shilewalks 183973 84,210 Gl 763
Cedar Lake bridge and paving 170,196 64,197 105,999
Enst Biloxi recreational facility 227,750 73,585 |54, 165
Tanglewond infrastrecture repair 180,504 g2, 500 BR,000
Sediment removal phase 11 132,233 67497 64,736
Paint Codet shoreline 118,471 57015 60,556
Ecegan Bayou restoration 57,500 48,875 B,625
Kulin Street boat ramp 164,450 101,285 63,165
Shrners Bl walerzewer exiension 180,000 146,668 33,332
Bay Vista water well 104, 708 30,147 73,553
Fire station Mo, 5 improvements 120,000 - 120,000
Popps Ferry recreational complex 217,239 167,279 49,960
Pass Road & Rodenberg signal 44,000 11,615 16,385
Woolmarket traffic study 20,980 20977 3
Point re-development program 225,000 18,565 186,435
Sports comples feld improvements SA01.819 319939 4,971,880
Point Cadet nearshore 219,800 61830 151,970
Parkers Creek dredping 52460 7,560 i, 00
Woolmarket Acres infrasiructune 972,300 121,621 B50.670
Municipal harbor dredging 26,925 24,233 2,692
Churchill Avenue drainage improvemes 11,300 B0 20604
BEA 35,755,810 16,683,359 19072451
5TM 46,663 810 30, 1'H), 767 16,473,043

§ 112,258,611 $ 57,383,588 $ 54,875,023

NOTE 16: RELATED PARTY COMMITMENTS

Joint Feminre

The City of Biloxi is a member of the Harrison County Utility Authority {Authority) which was established
by an act of the Mississippi Legislature to provide for adequate wastewater treatment and solid waste dispaosal
services 1o the citizens of Harrison County, Mississippi. The goveming board is comprised of one membser
from each of the cities and two members from cach of the counties who are members of the Authority.
Through a fifty-year contract, the City of Biloxi is obligated to pay monthly, its pro-rata share of all
operating, administrative, and capital costs of the Authority. Additionally, the City is jointly and severally
liable for all of the liabilities of the Authority. The Authority is classified as a joint venture between the City
of Biloxi and the other members, The following is a synopsis of the Authority’s financial statements as of and
for the year ended September 30, 2023, a complete copy of which is on file al the administrative offices of the
Authority. For the year ended Seplember 30, 2023, the City paid the Authority $10,762,347; §7,721,052 for
sewer, $2,645,592 for garbage, and $395,703 for dumping.
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MNOTE 16: RELATED PARTY COMMITMENTS (Continued}
Joid Vendnre feontinied)

Harrison County Utility Authority
Condenzed Statement of Net Position

Assels

Currenl nssels 5 14,727 956
Moncurrent assets 189,531,695
Total asseis 204 7 5533'
Deferred outNows related to pensions 497,708
Total assets and deferred ontflows of resonrces $ 204,757,359
Liabilities and Net Position

Current habilities ¥ 11517372
Noncwrrent liabilities 83,272,334
Total liabilities | 040, TR, T0G
Deferred inflows related to pensions 6,569
Total liabilitics and deferred inflows related to pensions 100,796,275
Met position § 103,961,084

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Net Position

Orperating revenues § 23977078
Depreciation (14,152.865)
COiperating expenses (24,270,114)
Mon-operating revenues (expenses) 6,850,691
Change in net position $  (7.602,210)
Beginning net position 111,563,294
Ending net position £ 103,961,084

Jointly Governed Organization
Hareizon O Litbrary Sysfen

On May 18, 1976, the City entered into an agreement with the Board of Trustees of the Biloxi Public Library,
the City of Gullport, the Board of Supervisors of Harrison County, the Board of Trustees of the Gulfport-
Harrison County Library, the City of Pass Christian, and the Board of Trustees of the Pass Christian Public
Library to mutually cooperate in sccuring a more economical public library system through combined
resources, inferests, materials and facilities 1o be known as the Harmrison County Library System. There are
no specific monetary terms in the agreement and the City of Biloxi has no equity interest in the onganization,
However, a budget is approved every year by the County Library Board, which stipulates the amount of [unds
needed from the participating municipalities and various other funding sources. The City of Biloxi
contributed $732 996 for the year ended September 30, 2023, The amount budgeted for the City of Biloxi for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 is $780,000. This agreement is cancelable upon 60 days wrilten
nodice prior (o the end of the fiscal year and therefore, the City of Biloxi dees not have an ongoing Ninangial

responsibility.
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NOTE 16: RELATED PARTY COMMITMENTS (Continued)
Jointly Governed Crrgawizarion feontinned)

Gdfport-Biloxi Regional Airport Authority

The Gulfpori-Biloxi Regional Airport Authority was chartered on August 25, 1977, and assumed control of
the Airport on October [, 1977. The Authority is comprised of one appointee each from the local
povernmental units of the City of Gulfport, the City of Biloxi, and Harrison County. These governmental
units have agreed to subsidize the Airper annually, During the past fiscal vear, the City of Biloxi provided
no subsidy to the Gulfport-Biloxi Regional Airport, The City has no funds budgeted for the 2023-2024 fiscal
year. The City of Biloxi has no cquity interest in the organization.

NOTE 17: IMPLEMENTATION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARD GASE NO. 96

The implementation of a new accounting standard, GASE 96 — Subscription-based Information Technology
Arrangements, required the recording of right to use assets, related amortization of right to use assets, and a
subscription liability related to subscription-based technology agreements for the year ended September 30,
2023, The statement of net position beginning net position has been restated 1o reflect the adjustments related
to the implementation of this new standard.

The effects of the restatement on the statements of net posilions are as follows:

As Previously Effect of Kestatenmsent
Stated As Restated Increase {Decrease)
Croverinnei-wide
Cioversmmemtel Activities
Statement of Met Position
at September 30, 2022:
Right of use assef - subscription £ £ 300462 £ 3,200 462
Accumulated amortization - subscriplion ¥ 5 (497, 1949) £ (%7 19%)
Subscription linbiliry 5 - £ {2.564,759) £ (2.564,75%)
Giovernmental activities net position® % [238,265,708) % (238.404,212) 5 (138,504)
Business-type Activities
Statement of Mei Position
at Seplember 30, 2022:
Right of use assel - subscription 5 - £ 428,028 5 428,028
Accumulated smortization - subscription 8 - £ (61,072) 5 {61,072}
Subscription liability 5 - 3 {384,014} 5 (384,004}
Business-type activities net position® £ (338802 967 £ (338, 785,0009) 5 17,058
Water and Sewer P
Balance Sheet
al September 30, 2022:
Right of use assel - subsoription 5 = 5 428,028 5 428,028
Accumulnied amortization - subscription § - 5 (61,072) 3 (61,072)
Subscription liability 5 = 8 (384,004} 5 [384,014)
Proprietary fund Balance sheer®  (309.9015,028) £ (309.897,970) 5 17,058

*Previously stated nmounts adjusted for prior period adjusiments unrelited fo GASE 96 implenwentalion =

see Mote 18 for more information.
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NOTE 18: PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

The following prior period adjustments have been made in order 10 restate the ending net position for the year
ended September 30, 2023,

Gevermment-wide Financial Statements
The following adjustments were made to the prior year financial statements ending balances:

Crovernmeni=Wide Finoncial Statements
Governmental Activitics

Beginning net position, as previously reported £ (239.501,554)
Adjustment 1o recard SBITA (138,504)
Adjustment to correct sccumulated depreciation 1,235,846
Beginning net position, as restated 5 (238404212

Busimess-Type Aclivities

Beginning net position, as previously reported £ [344,569,967)

Adjustment to record SBITA 17,058

Adjustment to correct accumulated depreciation 5,767,000

Beginning net position, as restated 5 (338,785,909)
Fund Financial Stafemenis

Proprietary Funds

The following adjusiments were made to the prior year financial statements ending balances:

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Water & sewer furd
Beginning nel position, a5 previously reported £ (310,070,740
Adjpustment 1o record SBITA 7,058
Adjustment 1o correct accumulnied depreciation 1,155 712
Beginning net position, as restated b !ME‘&WIWIII
Pavi fiend
Beginning net position, as previously reported 5 (33499227
Adjustiment to comect accumulkated depreciation 4.611,288
Beginning nel position, as restated 5 (28387939

NOTE 19: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The City has evaluated evenis subsequent to year end through January 7, 2025, which is the date the financial
statements were available 1o be issued. The following events were identified:

Since September 30, 2023, the City has awarded $28.2m in construction contracts for City projects and
approved the purchase of $4.6m in fixed assets.

On June 18, 2024, Mississippi Legislature passed Senate Bill 3231 pertaining to the PERS retirement system,
This bill limits the vearly increase of the employer’s contribution rate to 0.50% effective July 1, 2024,
Emplover contribumtion rates will be phased in to 18.90% over three fiscal years (17.90% for FYE 2025,
18.40% for FYE 2026, and 18.90% for FYE 2027). The originally projected PERS contribution rates per the
latest actuarial report is detailed in Note 11 under “Discount Rate. The effect of this change cannot be
reasonably estimated for financial statement purposes.
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CITY OF BILOXI MISSISSIFP

Schedule |

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE (MOMN-GAAR BASIS)

REVENXIUES
Al valorem tnxes
Livenses and perisiis
libergavernmental
Federal nngd stnle gramis
Charges for services
Fimes
Other
Talal revenues
EXPENDITURES
Adminisration
Persomne] services
Bupplies
Oiibeer services amd charges
Contracinal services
Capilal oullay
Totnl admininsirative
Exegulive
Personnel services
Supplics
Cither services and charpes
Comiracheal services
Cagpital cutlay
Toiad execeulive
Legislalive
Persanne] services
Supplics
Oilser servioes and ehaiges
Contractual services
Toal legislative
Fegal
Persomne] services
Supplics
(Hher services ond charges
Conlmclanl serviges
Crpitnl autlay
Tiotal begal
Consmuanity developiweni
Persomnel services
Supplics
Oiher services and changes
Contraciual serviees
Capital ouillay

Total cammunity development

Farks and recreniion
Personnel services
Supplics
Ciher services aind charges
Conwlrnclsal services
Capital I,'.H.I"I:I"F
Ttal parks and recrenation

GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEFTEMBER 30, 2023
Yarinnce with
Final Budget
Oiriglnal Final Favorahle
Budgel Buslget Actuz| (Unfavoralie)
126573 % 1206973 5 12909007 8 {37.071)
4134615 4,134,613 4,532 364 397,749
42900000 L2901 000 43,901,513 1000515
I.26.571 2,596,604 QRLT00 £ 160395
3,327,334 3,327,334 3,176,646 {150,688)
434,000 434,000 352,242 {81,758)
__ TLl41.604 T204.936  BIMEE 1,749,352
T2 107 73,555 552 M AS065T RESI0F
1,93, BET 1,945 x52 1, TRS A7 159,175
62,354 62,196 42,254 19,942
30, 108 03 3R0 332,208 71672
1,523, 250 1,439,454 1417 29 11213
10,201 503,500 495,153 &7
4,425 849 4,354,721 4,072, 363 282,358
462,172 471,659 460,694 20035
30,540 292,240 279,044 (ERL
56,200 57,100 39,698 17,402
T0,050 59,750 51,366 B384
2,152 5452 o4, 280 1,172
B30.714 A 241 Ra4.082 42,159
573452 505,183 505663 (R0
23,200 3,000 14,961 B,039
126,766 166,046 123,152 43 E54
A0 SO0 - 300
723,018 THA,T2O TiLElE 51,913
BSG.068 ET0L.240 B21.352 57,BER
15005 6,620 141 488
1,000,580 GG, 463 #7453 155,000
IR2TS 3,394 34,254 1]
13z 17,850 17,665 1£5
1,212,788 1,934,576 1,716,865 217,711
2,303,508 213,241 226,122 LA
177 450 154,950 117,714 37234
A0, TOHD S50.041 536,301 13,740
A 19,950 A2 334,234 &6,010
111,372 1 89,304 103,044 £, 160
3,509,370 3,607,680 3327415 2002635
3,332,135 3,408,296 5,290,527 117,768
07630 19,530 358,755 20,784
G600, B0 T Sl 650,853 7046
334,600 375,600 v, i7s 5413
165,400 167 A0 | e 67T aib, 727
-:t.‘ill}ﬁ-é'ﬂs_ 5055 404 4 R19.987 215417

See independien] auditos's repont and noles ta required supplemeniary mfeemalon.
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EXPENDITURES, Conlinued
Public Saleqy
Personnel services
Supplies
CHlser services and charpes
Contraciund services
Capital owllay
Tl public safety
Public Works
Persomme] services
Supplees
Other serviees and charges
Confrectual services
Cupital cutlay
Tiodal pubslic works
Mendeparimental
Inderest and principal
Supgplics
Chber services and charges
Conbragtual services
Capital Dullay
Tutal mondepariemestal

Total expenditures
Excess {deficiency) of revenues aver expenditures
OTHER FINARNCING SOURCES (LSES)
Debt procesds

Translers out
Translers in

Tokal other financing sounces (uses)
Met change in fund balonce
Fund balance-heginuing, budgel basis
Fund balance-ending, budget basis
Reconciliation to CGAAP bais:
Cumulative difference betwesn GAAP basis fund
balamce end budgel basis of beginning of the year,
Change in receivables

Change in prepaid expenses

Chonge in pecouns paynble and aceneed liabililics
Change in defierred revenws

Change in deferred inflow of resources

Fund batanee-ending, GAAD basis

Schedule |

(Coaitimied)
CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPP
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE {NON-GAAP BASIS)
GENERAL FUND
FORTHE YEAR ENDED SEFTEMBER 30, 2033
Varinnce with
Final Budgel
Original Final Favorable
Budgei Buslget Artual {Unfavarahble)
1271510 33630,6356 3L 13647 I 4,165
| RO5 400 1,866,170 171859497 147,173
2023840 2,052,330 1,675,658 76,672
1.553,0005 1413.681 1,313,589 100,02
4 950,052 5,575,130 3,517,568 2057, 262
A3, 195,899 ik 537947 A0, 362,583 4,175,346
AT R 4,921,841 4,71, T 211,138
626,350 605 B8 492,619 113,262
203,250 345330 301237 44,059
4,97 166 3, FL TR S247.358 343431
1,220,211 1176013 415,473 760,634
12,575,430 12630 860 11,167.336 1472524
5,600 T,Ma2 7,081 I
45,000 BT515 1,204 26,410
4,134,650 4,940,256 5,000,627 (152,371)
1,977,388 2,244,245 2,038,554 205,691
165,503 196,376 195,151 1,225
6,326,184 TAM5T 7341618 BO,9546
TR ADG, 136 81,215,732 T4 3875 G828 67
(5.600,629) i 7,600, 1 R0 63,5492 1.723.772
3028270 10282 1,725,000 (1,303,270}
(Z2,646,783) {(2,650,978) (1,517 481) 1,133 497
{20k, OO (220,805) (315.986) (95,181)
181 487 156,487 {108 A6T) (264 954)
{3429, 142) (7503633} (44,8750 & 7,458,818
21,478,969 21,172,191 21,172,191
£ 16040827 5 1366498 5 ZLEZTING
1 450,297
{1 A9, 58]
378060
21337
1,158 886
1,716,818
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
PFUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 1: CHANGES IN ASSUMPTIONS
The changes in assumptions for the years presented are as follows:

« 2023

o The investment rate of return assumption was changed from 7.55% to 7.00%.

a  The assumed load for administrative expenses was decreased from 0.28% 1o 0.26% of
payroll,

o Withdrawal rates, disability rates and service retirement rates were adjusted to reflect actual
experience more closely,

o The percentage of participants assumed to receive a deferred benefit upon atiaining the
eligibility requiremenis for retirement was increased from 60% to 65%,

o For marricd members, the number of years that a male is assumed to be older than his spouse
was changed from 3 years to 2 years,

o The assumed amount of unused sick leave at retirement was increased from 0.50 years to 0.55
years,

o The assumed average number of yvears of military service that participants will have at
refirement was decrensed from 0.25 years to 0.20 years,

o The expectation of retired life mortality was changed to the PubS.H-2010(B) Retiree Table
with the following adjustiments:
= For males, 93% of males rates up to age 60, 110% for ages 61 1o 75, and 101% for
ages above 77.
For females, 84% of female rates up to age 72, 100% for ages above 76.
Projection scale MP-2020 will be used to project future improvement in life
expoctancy gencrationally,
o The expectation of disabled mortality was changed to PubG,H-2010 Disabled Table for
disabled retirees with the following adjustments:
= For mabes, 134% of male rates at all ages.
*  For females, 121% of female rates at all ages.
*  Projection scale of MP-2020 will be used to project future improvement in life
expectancy generationally.
o The expectation of contingent annuitant mortality was based on the PubS.H-2010(B)
Contingent Annuitant Table with the following adjustments:
*  For males, 97% of male rates at all ages.
*  For females, 1 10% of female rates at all ages.
*  Projection scale MP-2020 will be used to project future improvements in life
expeclancy gencrationally.
The price inflation assumption was reduced From 2.75% to 2.40%.
The wage inflation assumption was reduced from 3.00%% to 2.65%.
The investment rate of return assumption was changed from 7.75% 1o 7.55%.
The assumed losd for administrative expenses, was increased from 0.25% to 0.28% of
payroll.
Withdranwal rates, pre-retirement mortality rates, disability rates and service retirement rates
were also adjusted to reflect actual experience more closely,
o The percentage of active member disabilities assumed to be in the line of duly was increased
from %% to 12%.
o The percentage of active member deaths assumed 1o be in the line of duty was decreased
form 6% to 4%,

coQo
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIFPPL

NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 1: CHANGES IN ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

29
o

The expectation of retired life mortality was changed to the Pub5.H-2010{B) Retiree Table

with the following adjustments:

*  For males, 112% of male rates from ages 18 to 75 scaled down to 105% for ages 80
o 119,
*  For females, 85% of the female rates from ages 18 to 63 scaled wp (o 102% for ages
TS 119,
*  Projection scale MP-2018 will be used to project future improvements in life
expectancy generationally.
The expectation of disabled mortality was changes to PubT.H-20010 Disabled Retiree Table
for disabled retirces with the following adjustments;
*  For males, 137% of males rates at all ages.
®*  For females, 115% of female rates at all ages.
*  Projection scale MP-2018 will be used to project fisture improvements in life
expectancy generationally.
The price mflation assumption was reduced from 3.00% 1o 2.75%.
The wage inflation assumption was reduced from 3.25% to 3.00%.
Withdrawal rates, pre-retirement mortality rates, and service retirement rates were also
adjusted to more closely reflect actual experience.
The percentage of active member dizabilities assumed to be in the line of duly was increased
from 7% o 9%.

The expectation of retire life mortality was changed to the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant Blug
Collar Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2022. Small adjustments were also made
to the Mortality Table for disabled lives,

The wage inflation assumption was reduced from 3.75% to 3.25%.

Withdrawal rates, pre-retirement mortality rates, disability rates and service retirement rate
were also adjusted to more closely reflect actual experience.

The percentage of active member disabilities assumed to be in the line of duty was increased

firoam 6% to 7%,

The assumed rate of interest credited to employee contributions was changed from 3.50% 1o
2.00%.

The expectation of retired life modality was changed to the RP-2014 Healilhy Annuitant Blue
Collar Table projected to 2016 using Scale BB rather than the RP-2000 Mortality Table,
which was used prior to 2015.

The expectation of disabled mortality was changed to the RP-2014 Disabled Retiree Table,
rather than the RP-2000 Disabled Mortality Table, which was used prior to 2015,
Withdrawal rates, pre-retirement mortality rates, disability rates and service retirement rates
were also adjusted to more closely reflect actual experience.

Assumed rates of salary increase were adjusted to more closely reflect actual and anticipated
experience.

The price inflation and investment rate of return assumptions were changed from 3.50% 1o
3.00% and §.00% 10 7.75%, respectively.
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPL
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES® RETIREMENT SYSTEM
SEPFTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 2: CHANGES IN BENEFIT PROVISIONS

& 2016
o Effective July 1, 20016, the interest rate on employvee contributions shall be calculated based

on the money market rate as published by the Wall Street Jowmal on December 31 of each
preceding year with a minimum rate of one percent and maximum rate of five percent.

NOTE 3: METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATIONS OF ACTUARIALLY
DETERMINED CONTRIBUTIONS

The actuarially determined contribution rates in the schedule of employer contributions are calculated as of
June 30, two vears prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported (June 30, 2021
valuation for the June 30, 2023 fiscal year end). The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used
o determine the most recent contribution rate reporied in that schedule:

Actuarial cost method Eniry age

Amorization method Level percentage of payroll, open

Remaining amortization period 26.7 years

Assct valuation method Syear smoothed market

Price inflation 240 percent

Salary increase 2.65 percent to 17.90 percent, including inflation
Investment rate of return 7.55 percent, net of pension plan invesiment expense,

imcluding inflation

i)
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FIREMAN'S AND POLICEMAN'S DISABILITY AND RELIEF PLAN AND EMPLOYEE'S
DISABILITY RELIEF PLAN
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 1: METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATIONS OF ACTUARIALLY
DETERMINED CONTRIBUTIONS

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30, two years prior to the end of the fiscal
year in which contributions are reported. Contributions for the fiscal yvear ending September 30, 2023 were
bazed on the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation.

The methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates are as follows:

Actuarial cost method Ultimute Asset Reserve

Amortization method MIA

Remaining amortization period MIA

Assel valuation method Markel value of assels

Actuarinl assumplions:

Inflation 2.40%

Salary Increases MA

Investrent rate of refum 6.05%, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

12



COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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CITY OF BILOXI MISSISSIFFI

OOMEBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IX FUND BALANCES

REVENLES

Ad valorem waxes

Proporty taes

Imergovemmental

Charges for services

Lease revenue

Imitrest income - leases

Investmess carmings

Mscelianeous - other
Teoaal revenuct

EXPENDITURES
Cument:
Crereml povernment
Public safety
Cuttursl and recrestion
Cantemumnity development
Other experdingrs

Tital expenditares

Excess (deficiency) of reverisss

OTHER FINAMNCING SOURCES
{U'SES)
Tranafers in

Tomal other finsmeing sourees and
LSS

Mef chanpe in fond balanees

Furd bafances = beginning
Fussd badanees - ending

NON-MAJOR COVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 340, 2023

Spercial Revenue
Employess Baxehall
Community Employess” State Ciey Capiead

Develapment  Disability &  Unempleymeat  Bicentesnial — Maintenanee  Fricads of the
Bleck Grast Relicl Fuend Fund Trust Fund Fand Saenmer Fand

1 - 1 Tri&0T % - ¥ . 5 . 5 -

431,450 - . : ) e

. . - . 25,000 -

106,745 = . : . -

3Tz 2 ¥ i T >
- - 20,657 1,235 - 1134
AT 565 - 2] . 25000 51.584
5E6,253 1I3TEE2 20,877 1235 50,5800 52 730

. 161,99 . . . .

5 LT i) L ; ¥ =

. - . ‘ 65635 .

502113 . 3 £ 5 1

- - 240 a L 7

02113 1055 0EE 2519 - [T %
14,150 82544 18,158 1235 (15,435) 51720

- . 5 - £0,000 .

. . - . S0.000 -
14,158 82504 18158 12335 1365 foder |

56315 422,806 3263 TRETY -
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COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS



ARRETS
Cash and cash egquivalents:
Aecounts recervables, net
e from otbser Funds
Total corrent assets

LIARILITIES
Carrend labalities:
Cloims and judgmenis
Tital corgeni halsilinies
Total liabiltics

NET ASSETS
Unrestrigied
Tuotal pel asserz

CUFY OF BILOX)

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
INTERNAL SERVICE FUND

SEPTEMBER 3, 2023
Liabkility, Properiy, Employvee {ranalng Tatal
nna Warkers Bledical Revenue Intermal Service
Comp Clalms Imterruption Fumids
5 2 86T 610 % (I 5 29870 3 Fad46,371
. 2I5E¥0 - ZI5EX
567508 - . 567 208
3433 208 204, TH BGET 730,008
24064892 I.234. 774 - 1,504 65E
2.4&4,!_?:!__ I;ﬂl&! - 1107473
2464 590 1. 242 581 - 3707473
b o ] { Eg?.ﬂ&lh g0 o]
5 570616 3 (1037851) § 0§ 72,6385

Sce mdependent auditor’s neport
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES |X NET POSITION

FIMLTHE YEAR ENDED SEFTENMBER 30, 2021

REVENLES
Charges for services, insurance hillings
Cohirs contiibinioss

Tedal operaling revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
fesuramce mnd resmsurance
Clagnis espense
Totall cperaling expenscs
Chpeerating imcome | |osx)

NON-UPERATING REVENLUES (EXPENSES)
Inerest and envestmenl revenue
Total moa-operaing revonue (expenses)

Imcome (lods) belvee comiribulsoos and ansfors
Teanslers in
Change im et position
Todal net posdtion - beginming
Total net posstion - ending

CITY OF BILEXT

INTERNAL SERVICE FUND

Limhiflity, Properiy Enuplayee Cinnaleg Tatal
and Warkers Sedical Revenue Indernnl Hervice
Camp Claims Imtervuption Fumis
5 5750684 00§ RIS63B% 5 . I OE7 B3
‘ J4E 549 2 148,549
p BA04. 038 Fal 255 632
d 425 2410 GIEE0T . 5344, 13K
1305451 1085000 = O, o, 542
5,730,652 B,003. 988 - 14,634,680
2 (309,050 : (399,045)
4, |5 4,1
4,196 4%
2 (¥9,080) 4,196 (394,852)
- 340,555 - 40555
2 {40,95) i, 196 (45, 20T)
w0614 (9EE,354) B56™4 67,932
S__Fnes 3_(mS) 3_#ah RS
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIFPI
SCHEDULE OF SURETY BONDS FOR CITY OFFICIALS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Bond

Position Surety Company Amount

Mayor Cadence Insurance $ 100,000
Councilmember (7) Cadence Insurance £100,000

City Clerk Cadence Insurance £50,000

Deputy Municipal Clerk (2) Cadence Insurance §50,000

Palice Chief Cadence Insurance £50,000

Controller Cadence Insurance $£50,000

Municipal Court Administrator Cadence Insurance $50,000
Public Employes Blanket Cadence Insurance £1,000,000

See independent auditor's repor.
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REPORTS ON COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL



K .‘
ALEXANDER | VAN LOON | SLOAN | LEVENS | FAVRE, PLLC
Certifled Public Accouplants & Business Consullants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

January 7, 2025

Honorable Mayor and Members of the

City Council
City of Biloxi
Biloxi, Mississippi
We have andited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Anditing Stamdards issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Biloxi,

Mississippi as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the City of Biloxi, Mississippi’s basic financial statcments and have issued our

report thereon dated January 7, 2025,

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Biloxi,
Mississippi’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing owr opinions on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of
Biloxi, Mississippi's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the cffectiveness of the
City of Biloxi, Mississippi's internal control.

A deficiency in internal contral exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and cormrect,
misstatements on a timely basis. A mafertal weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity"s Gnancial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and comected, on a timely basis, A significant deficiency is a
dehciency, or a combination of deficiencies, i internal control that is less severe than a material weakness,

yet important enough to meril attention by those charged with governance.
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To the City Cowneil
Ciry of Bilexi
Biloxi, Mississipgi

Our consideration of interal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was nol designed 1o identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses
or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in
intérnal control that we consider to material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Biloxi, Mississippi's financial statements
are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was
not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The resulis of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Governmen
Anditing Stendarels,

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal contral and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or
on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Awditing
Starrcdaras in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

CUeyamden Van liom. Ster, (erene . = Tonks, PLLC

ALEXANDER, VAN LOON, SLOAN, LEVENS & FAVRE, PLLC
Certificd Public Accountanis
Gulfport, Mississippi
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR
EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

January 7, 2025

Honorable Mayor and Members of the
City Council

City of Biloxi

Biloxi, Mississippi

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
Opiilon on Eack Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of Biloxi, Mississippi’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements
described in the OME Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City
of Biloxi, Mississippi’s major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2023, The City of Biloxi,
Mississippi’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs,

In our opinion, the City of Biloxi, Mississippi complied, in all material respects, with the compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on cach of its major federal
programs for the year ended September 30, 2023,

Basis for Opinion on Each Majer Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally sceepted in the United
States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Governmend Anditing
Standards, issued by the Compiroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Liform Administrative Requivememds, Cost Principles, and Auwdit
Reqguirenents for Federal dwards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance portion

of our report.

We are required to be independent of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance
for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Biloxi,
Mississippi’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred o above.
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To the City Council
City of Biloxi
Biloxi, Mizsissippi

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,
statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable 1o the City of Biloxi,
Mississippi's federal programs.

Audifor's Responsibifities for the Audit af Compliance

Owur objectives are to obiain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the City of
Biloxi, Mississippi's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS,
Crovernment Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when
it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that
resulling from ervor, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of imternal contrel. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered
material, if there is a substantial likelthood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the City of Biloxi, Mississippi's
compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an aedit in accordance with GAAS, Goversment Anditing Stendards, and the Uniform
Guidance, we:

#  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughowt the asdit.

o ldentify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the City of Biloxi, Mississippi's compliance with the compliance
requirements referred 1o above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumslances.

s (btain an understanding of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi’s intemal contrel over compliance relevant
to the audil in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test
andl report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi’s internal
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed,

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planncd scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Other Malters

The results of auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance which are required to be reported in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance and which are described in the accompanying schedule of findings
and questioned costs as item 2023-001. Our opinion on the major federal program is not modified with
respect 1o these matiers, Govermmens Awditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures
on the City of Biloxi's response to the noncompliance findings identified in our audit described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The City of Biloxi's response was not subjected to
the ather auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and accordingly, we express no opinion on
the response.

Bl



To the City Council
City of Biloxi
Biloxi, Mississippi

Report on Tnternal Contral over Complianee

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditer's
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies
in internal control over complinnce that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal
control over compliance and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identificd. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider 1o be
material weaknesses. However, as discuss below, we did identify a certain deficiency in internal control over
compliance that we consider to be a significant deficiency.

A deficiency in imternal conirol over complianee exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program on a timely basis. A materiol weakmess in imtermal control over complionce 15 a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be
prevented, or detected and comrected, on a timely basis. A significent deficiency in internal control over
complianee is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in interal control over compliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance, We consider the
deficicncy in internal control over compliance described in the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs as item 2023-001, to be a significant deficiency.

Cwur andit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. Goversment Auditing Srandards requires the
auditor to perform limited procedures on the City of Biloxi's response to the internal control over compliance
findings identified in our audit described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The
City of Biloxi's response was not subjected 1o the other anditing procedures applied in the awdit of
compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response,

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to deseribe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Mﬂ-ﬂﬂfwﬂl Van oo, Sloan. (W.ff;u.eﬁ PLle-

ALEXANDER, VAN LOON, SLOAN, LEVENS & FAVRE, PLLC
Certified Poublic Accountanis
Gulfport, Mississippi
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEFTEMBER 30, 2023

NOTE 1- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are reported on the accrual basis of
accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform
Guidance, The cost principles are applied based on the period of expenditures,

NOTE 2 - DE MINIMIS INDIRECT COST RATE

The City of Biloxi, Mississippi has elected to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed
under the Uniform Guidance.

NOTE 3- BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award
activity of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi under programs of the federal government for the year ended
September 30, 2023 and is presented on the acerual basis of accounting. The information in this Schedule is
presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Urifornr
Administrative Reguivememnts, Cost Principles, and Awdlt Requivennents for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City, it is not
intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the City of
Biloxi, Mississippi.

NOTE 4 - RECONCILIATION OF GRANT REVENUE

The following reconciles the total expenditures of federal awards 1o grant revenue recognized in the statement
of activities for the year ended September 30, 2023;

Governmeantal Activities
Public safety - operating grants and contributions § 377326
Public safety - capital grants and contributions 322,445
Public works - capital grants and contributions 29914728
Public works - operating grants and contributions 34,780
Community development - operating grants and contributions 421,450
Cirants not restricted to specific purpose 1,455,747
Business-lype Activilies
Water and Sewer - capital grants and contributions 687,986
Taotal grants and contributions 332014, 462
Less: state grants and other aid (2,610,502)
Less: other contributions (1,952,964)
Total expenditures of federal awards £ 28,650,906
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIFPIL
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023
Section | - Summary of Anditor’s Results
At { [
Type of auditor’s report issued Unmadified
Internal Control over financial reporting:
Material Weakiesses identified? Moy

Significant Deficiencies identificd that are

nod considered o be material weaknesses? Mone reporied
MNoncompliance material to financial statements noted? No
Federal Awards

Internal Control Over Major Programs:
Maoterial Weaknesses identified? Mo

Significant Deficiencies identified that are
nal considered to be material weaknesses? Yes

Type of auditor’s report isswed on compliance for major
federal programs Unmaodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are requined to be reported
in accordance with 2 CFR section 200,51 6(a)? Mo

Federal programs identified as major programs:

ALN Numbers o Mame of Federal Programs
97.036 Disaster Grants — Presidentialfy Declared Disasters
20,205 Highwey Planwing and Construction
21027 Cloroieniirns Stofe caord Loced Fiveal Recovery Funds
21015 Resowrces and Ecosystems Sustahnabiline, Towrist Opporfnities,

el Revived Economies of the Gulf Coast States
Dollar threshold used 1o distinguish between type A
and type B Programs 859,530

Auditee qualified as low-risk anditee? Na
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CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Section 11 - Financial Statement Findings

Mone reported.

Section IT1 - Federal Awarid Findings
2023001 - Significani Deficiency
Criteria

Uniform Guidance requires the audit reports to be filed with the FAC within nine months afier the vear end of
the audit period (or by June 30).

Conrclition

Audit reports were nod prepared and filed timely with the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) in accordance
with Uniform Guidance.

Canise

The City did not submit the audit reports to FAC within nine months.
Effect

The City risks losing federal award funding.

Orestioned Costs

There are no questioned costs associated with finding.

Corfext

Issuance of prior yvear audits were delayed which caused delay in beginning current year audit and additional
currénl year audit procedures related to implementation of new accounting standard GASDB 96 — Subscription-
based Information Technology Arrangements.

Repeat Finding

This iz a repeat finding,

Recownniericlafon

We recommend the City continue efforts to improve processes to ensure timely audit preparation and filings.
Fiew of Responsible Officials and Plamed Corvective Actions

The City concurs with the Anding and has provided o response in the Correclive Action Plan.



CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS
SINGLE AUDIT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEFTEMBER 30, 2023

2023-001 ~ Sigmificant Deficiency Federal Avard Finding

Audit reports were not prepared and filed timely with the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) in accordance
with Uniform Guidance.

Management Comments and Corrective Action Plan
* The City strives to comply with governing rules and regulations. The current vear audit was delayed
due to the late issuance of the prior year audit as well as the implementation of new accounting
standard GASB 96 — Subscription-based Information Technology Arrangements. The City continues
their effors to improve processes and have a routine audit schedule beginning with fiscal year 2024,
Completion Date: Pending

Name of Contact Person Responsible for Comective Action Plan: Diana Thornton

BT



CITY OF BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Finding 2022-001 — Significant Deficiency Federal Award Finding

Condirion: Audit reports were not prepared and filed timely with the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) in
accordance with Uniform Guidance.

Starus: The prior yvear audit was delayed due the late issuance of the prior year audit report. The City
continues to improve reporting processes and plans to have a routine audit schedule for fiscal year 2024,

Finding 2021-002 - Significant Deficiency Federal Award Finding

Condition: Audit reports were not prepared and filed timely with the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) in
accordance with Uniform Guidance.

Stares: The prior year andit was delayed due the late issuance of the prior year audit report, The City
continues to improve reporting processes and plans to have a routine audit schedule for fiscal year 2024,



ALEXANDER | VAN LOORN | SLODAN | LEVENS | FAVRE, PLLC
Cortifiod Public Accountants & Business Consullants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE
WITH MISSISSIPPI STATE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

January 7, 2025

Honorable Mayor and Members of the
City Council
City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Biloxi, Mississippi
We have audited the basic financial statements of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi, as of and for the year ended
September 30, 2023 and have issved our report dated Janvary 7, 2025, We have conducted our audit in

accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial andits contained in Government Auditing Stamdards.

As required by the state legal compliance audit program prescribed by the Office of the State Auditor, we
have also performed procedures to test compliance with certain state laws and regulations. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with state laws and regulations was not an objective of our audit and,
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion,

The results of those procedures and our audit of the basic financial statements disclosed no material instances
of noncompliance with state laws and regulations.

This report is intended solely for the information of the City's management and the Office of the State
Auditor and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.
However, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

Oltyarnder Van bron, Soan, Cercwe < faves Pile

ALEXANDER, VAN LOON, SLOAN, LEVENS & FAVRE, PLLC
Certified Publie Accountanis
Gulfport, Mississippi
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